Honouring our Past, Fostering our Future

A Kaupapa Māori E	Exploration of Iden	tity, Whanaungata	anga and How thi	s Supports
Ra	angatahi Māori Ha	uora and well-bei	ing	

Keryn Maraea Koopu

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Psychology, The University of Auckland, 2023.

Abstract

Exploring identity can be both a complex and beautiful journey for young people, especially for rangatahi Māori. However, rangatahi can often find themselves navigating environments, experiences and relationships in which Māori ways of being, knowing and living in this world are questioned, scrutinised and dissected to pieces. What it means to be Māori in contemporary times is constantly evolving, as are the relationships that we share with one another. This research therefore, aimed to explore the interaction between whanaungatanga and identity, and how this supports the hauora and well-being of rangatahi Māori. To explore this question, I have drawn from a kaupapa Māori methodology which prioritises and centres research by Māori, for Māori, and with Māori. This thesis is drawn from a wider project titled Harnessing the Spark of Life where a total of 51 rangatahi Māori engaged in semi-structured interviews in relation to whanaungatanga. The current study draws on the experiences and knowledge shared by four of these rangatahi Māori. Within this research, I draw upon a reflexive thematic analysis to understand the holistic nature of hauora and well-being, as well as the constantly evolving identities of rangatahi Māori today. Rangatahi Māori drew upon a range of tools and strategies to bolster and support their hauora and well-being including the engagement in whanaungatanga, tikanga Māori and engaging in te ao Māori. In engaging with whanaungatanga relationships, rangatahi were able to find a sense of belonging whilst navigating foreign environments, experiences and relationships, fostering a positive sense of identity and hauora and well-being.

Dedication

To the rangatahi Māori who shared their whakaaro for this kaupapa - it is a privilege and an honour to share your words of wisdom. I hope I can do you justice in the sharing of your stories. I hope they inspire others, the way they have inspired me.

Acknowledgments

As this leg of my academic haerenga comes to an end, the whakatauki "*Ehara taku toa i te toa takitahi, engari he toa takitini*" comes to mind. This thesis would not have been possible without the manaakitanga and support of many people in my life.

First and foremost, I want to thank my incredible supervisor Hineatua Parkinson for being a calming presence during the most stressful of times, a fierce advocate for tauira Māori at the University, and the epitome of mana wāhine. Thank you for your (extreme) patience, warm words of affirmation and for sharing your knowledge with me. The kindness you have shown me surpasses that of a general supervisor and without your support, I would not have ventured on this academic journey. For that, I am forever in your debt.

Secondly, I want to thank my co-supervisor, Kerry Gibson. Your support throughout the first year of my postgraduate journey does not go unnoticed. I am truly in awe of the mahi that you do. Ngā mihi nui for your support.

To Te Roopu Hiko, thank you for welcoming me into your roopu with open arms. It is an honour to share time and space with a group of Māori academics of your calibre. The knowledge and wisdom that you collectively possess is an inspiration.

To my Tuākana whānau - I cannot express how grateful I am to have found a safe haven on campus that makes me feel at home. Thank you for the study wānanga, the meanest feeds, the yarns, the laughter, and the pomodoro sessions. To be in your presence through it all is an

absolute honour, you make me unapologetically proud to be Māori. Special mention to Bri, for jumping onboard over the summer and helping me with this thesis and to my Masters buddy Lisiua. We may not have finished this journey together, but we finally made it sis!

To my friends - to every single one of you all over the motu, your aroha and manaakitanga do not go unnoticed. Thank you for checking in with me, reminding me to take breaks, offering to read chapters, and most importantly, for believing in me when I did not. Only real ones can put up with my 10 alarms that I without fail would sleep through every time, and still support me on this journey. Thank you for bearing the brunt of my stress and still sticking around for the ride. Forever grateful to be in your presence, forever thankful to have you all in my corner.

Finally, to my whānau. My rocks, my world, my everything. I could write an entire thesis of all the reasons I have to be thankful for you. There are no words that I could write that will ever be able to capture how grateful I am for you guys. Without your sacrifices, I would not be here writing this thesis. I love you guys so much.

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Dedication	ii
Acknowledgments	iii
Table of Contents	v
Glossary	ix
Ko wai au?	1
Chapter One: Introduction	4
Thesis Aims and Objectives	5
Thesis Outline	5
Chapter Two: Literature Review	7
Who are Māori?	7
The Colonisation of Māori Identity: Past to Present	7
The Past	8
The Arrival of Tauiwi	10
Colonisation (Post-Treaty)	13
The Present: Māori Today	17

Māori in Official Statistics	19
Whanaungatanga	20
Exploring Whanaungatanga	20
Whanaungatanga, Wellbeing and Identity	23
Chapter Three: Kaupapa Māori Methodology	25
Decolonising Methodologies	25
Epistemology	28
Ontology	29
Current Research Project	31
Chapter Four: Kaupapa Māori Methods	32
Data Collection	32
The Wider Research Project	32
The Present Research Context	33
Photo Elicitation	34
Data Analysis	35
Reflexive Thematic Analysis	35
Chapter Five: Analysis and Discussion	39
Healing the Mamae: Reconnecting to Te Ao Māori and Identity	39
Turning to Tikanga Māori	40
Theme Summary: Weaving Together the Threads	44

Returning to te Taiao	. 45
Theme Summary: Weaving Together the Threads	. 48
Home the Place, Home the People	. 48
Theme Summary: Weaving together the threads	. 56
Navigating Te Ao Pākehā: Being Māori in a Pākehā World	. 57
Connecting with the Whenua of the New Area	. 59
Finding whanaungatanga in the City	. 62
Theme Summary: Weaving together the threads	. 67
Honouring our Past, Fostering our Future: The Pursuit of Tino rangatiratanga	. 68
Theme Summary: Weaving together the threads	. 77
Chapter Six: Conclusion	. 79
Overview of Findings in Relation to the Research Questions	. 79
Explore how Rangatahi Māori Support their Hauora and Well-being through Te Ao Māor	ri
	. 79
Explore how Rangatahi Experience, Express, and Seek out Whanaungatanga in their Dail	ly
Lives	. 81
Explore how rangatahi Māori enact identity in urban environments when living away from	m
their home.	. 82
Explore the Ways that Rangatahi Māori are Safeguarding Tuakiri Māori and Mātauranga	for
the Future of Māoridom.	. 83
Strengths and Limitations of the Research	. 85
Prioritising Rangatahi Māori	85

Small Sample Size	80
Future Research	87
Implications for Future Research	87
Acknowledge the Diversity of Rangatahi Māori	87
By Rangatahi Māori, For Rangatahi Māori	88
Know our Roles and Responsibilities as a Researcher	89
Final Word	90
References	92

Glossary

Provided below is a partial glossary of commonly used te reo Māori words that appear throughout this thesis. Spellings and translations of some Māori words may vary according to the context in which they are used and iwi (tribal) affiliations and dialects.

Kupu Māori	Kupu Pākehā
Haerenga	Journey
Hauora	Health
Hītori	History
Hononga	Connection
Kaumātua	An elder, a person of status within the whānau
Kaupapa	Topic, policy, matter for discussion
Kaitiaki	Custodian, guardian, caregiver
Kōrero	To tell, say speak, address

Kotahitanga Unity, togetherness, solidarity, collective action

Kuia An elderly woman, female elder

Mamae To be painful, sore, hurt

Mana motuhake Autonomy, self-determination, sovereignty

Mana whenua Those with authority over the land

Moana Sea, ocean

Ngahere Bush, forest

Pānga Connections with, related to, association with

Papakāinga Home base, village

Pōwhiri To welcome, welcome ceremony on marae

Ringawera Kitchen worker

Rohe Boundary, region, territory, area

Tangata whenua People born of the land

Tau Relaxed, without panic

Tautoko To support, prop up, agree

Te ao Māori The Māori world/ways of being

Te ao Pākehā The Pākehā world/ways of being

Tino rangatiratanga Self-determination, sovereignty, autonomy

Tohu A sign, mark, symbol

Tuakiri Identity

Tūpuna Ancestors, grandparents

Turanga hou A new standing place

Tūrangawaewae Place where one has the right to stand

Wero Challenge

Whakaaro Thought, opinion, understanding

Whakamā To be ashamed, shy, embarrassed

Whakamana To empower, uplift, give voice to

Whakamomori Death by suicide

Whakapapa Genealogy, lineage; to be layered amongst

Whakawhanaungatanga The process of establishing relationships, relating well to others

Whanaungatanga A relationship through shared experiences and working together

which provides people with a sense of belonging

Ko wai au?

Ko Aorangi te maunga
Ko Takitimu te waka
Ko Moawhango te awa
Ko Ngāti Kahungunu te iwi
Ko Ngāti Whitikaupeka te hapū
Ko te Riu o puanga te marae
Ko Keryn Maraea Koopu ahau

It seems most appropriate to begin this thesis concerning rangatahi Māori and their identity with a brief reflection of my whakapapa. For Māori, whakapapa is an analytical tool for understanding our world and relationships (Pihama & Cameron, 2012). My identity, first and foremost as Māori, and my identity as a researcher begins and ends with my whakapapa. In unravelling the many layers of my whakapapa and exploring how this intertwines with my identity, perspectives, lived experiences and view of the world, I hope to shed light on how I arrived at this thesis. Always in the presence of, and with the guidance of, my tūpuna.

To contextualise my whakapapa, I am of Ngāti Kahungunu and Te Whānau ā Apanui descent. However, while I proudly claim my whakapapa, this is a journey of learning that I am still on, particularly on my Te Whānau ā Apanui side. My whānau on my mother's side come from a small rural town called Moawhango near Taihape. My whānau on my father's side come from a rural town called Maraenui near Ōpōtiki. Whilst my parents grew up in small rural towns, my sister and I grew up living in urban cities. Living urban is all I know- my whānau moved to

Christchurch, where my sister and I were born, then to Palmerston North and again to Hamilton before I moved to Auckland to complete my university studies.

During my primary school years in Palmerston North, I attended a predominantly Pākehā school. While I knew that I was Māori, it was a part of myself and my identity that I dimmed down to fit in with my Pākehā peers who surrounded me. A coping mechanism that I would selectively enhance or diminish when the situation called for it. I was able to utilise this mechanism because of my privilege as a fair-skinned Māori, a luxury I now know many do not have. My "Māori side" would resurface from hibernation only when around family, especially when I went to stay with my nan, a kōhanga reo teacher in Maraenui.

My schooling in Hamilton differed from my earlier experiences in that I went from being one of few Māori to being one of many Māori students. Within this new environment in which Māori peers surrounded me, I felt a sense of comfort in the familiarity of Māori who looked like me while simultaneously feeling a sense of inadequacy in terms of my identity and being Māori. At the time, I was very aware that I looked the part of being Māori. However, I lacked the cultural descriptors I thought I needed to be Māori-being fluent in Te Reo Māori, doing kapa haka, and being in bilingual classes. I gave labels to myself such as "plastic" or "white Māori", which had nothing to do with my physical features and everything to do with my own insecurities. Unbeknownst to me at the time, I would come to find out that this was the influence of colonisation in action. As I grew older and progressed through high school, being Māori became a box to tick rather than a part of my identity to embrace.

Beginning my study at the University of Auckland was a turning point for me in terms of my identity and my values. In my pursuit of a degree in psychology, I was repeatedly exposed to the overrepresentation of Māori in mental health statistics. It was here that I learnt about colonisation's historical and very present impact on the Māori people, my people. Not only did these papers open my mind to the atrocious acts that Māori have been subject to and continue to be subjected to, but they also brought out feelings of shame, hurt and anger. Shame on myself for not having sought out this knowledge earlier in my life, hurt for my ancestors who lived these realities, and anger that the intergenerational effect of this is still being felt by Māori.

While seemingly mundane, these experiences have contributed to my sense of cultural identity as a young Māori woman and as a young Māori researcher. They also provide a foundation for how I arrived at this thesis. It is my own journey with being Māori, alongside my whakapapa which has shaped my interest in exploring the interaction between whanaungatanga and identity and how this supports hauora and well-being for rangatahi Māori.

Chapter One: Introduction

"E kore au e ngaro, he kākano i ruia mai i Rangiātea"

I will never be lost, for I am a seed sown in Rangiātea

This whakatauki encapsulates the very essence of what it means to be Māori. Although short, the passage is rich with culture, knowledge and tradition significant to te ao Māori. A seed has endless potential, and it has the capacity to grow and develop into something beautiful if nurtured in the appropriate conditions. Even before the seed is planted, it has inherent promise and potential to do great things. When planted, the seed buries its roots deep below the surface into the whenua, acting as a foundation. Meanwhile, above the surface, the seed continues to grow, sprouting new fruits and spreading its seed, continuing the cycle of the plant and fostering growth for the future. Like the seed, a person also shares the same promise and potential to grow into something of greatness. Our tamariki were valuable members of the Māori world, before conception, before birth and before time. Our pūrākau tell stories of how our tamariki began their journey into this world from Rangiātea, the home of the cosmological beings. The beginning and the end of the journey of potential. As well as the arrival point of opportunity to realise this potential. Our tamariki and rangatahi were regarded as gifts from the Atua and as such, were nurtured like a seed to ensure health and to foster growth. E kore au e ngaro is a reminder that our culture, our identity as Māori, will never be lost. He kākano I ruia mai I Rangiatea, an ode to where and who we as Māori, come from. This whakatauki acts as both a reminder and an affirmation that our culture, our identity as Māori, will always remain strong because we know where and whom we come from.

Thesis Aims and Objectives

This thesis will explore the interaction between whanaungatanga and identity and how this supports hauora and well-being for rangatahi Māori through the following objectives:

- Explore how rangatahi Māori support their hauora and well-being through te ao Māori;
- Explore how rangatahi experience, express and seek out whanaungatanga in their everyday lives;
- Explore how rangatahi Māori enact identity in urban environments when living away from their home;
- Explore the ways that rangatahi Māori are safeguarding tuakiri Māori and mātauranga
 Māori for the future of Māoridom.

Thesis Outline

This research begins with a review of existing literature on Māori identities. Here, I journey from the past to the present, the historical and contemporary impact colonisation has had and continues to have on Māori identities. Chapter three contains the research methodology utilised within this thesis, in which I detail the theoretical underpinnings and principles central to a Kaupapa Māori methodology. In Chapter four, I attend to some of the finer details of this particular research process. Here, I outline the process of data collection and the process of data analysis that I engaged in to complete this thesis research. Chapter five presents the findings from the research and includes excerpts from each of our rangatahi Māori collaborators. Within this chapter, the analysis and discussion of these findings are presented concurrently. The final chapter, Chapter six, draws this study to a close by tying the threads of this research together.

Within this chapter, I provide an overview of the key findings in relation to the objectives of this study, the strengths and limitations of this research project, and the implications and recommendations for future research and further practice.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

Who are Māori?

Indigenous people are said to be some of the most researched people in the world (L. Smith, 2012). For Māori, as tangata whenua (People born of the land) and Indigenous people of Aotearoa, this is especially true when considering the complexities involved when discussing identity and belonging. To answer the question "who are Māori?" it is essential first to understand the historical and contextual factors in which Māori identities develop.

The Colonisation of Māori Identity: Past to Present

In seeking to provide insight and further clarity into the main processes experienced by Māori since the onset of colonisation, it is imperative to preface this section with a caveat. Attempting to divide history into a neatly sectioned, chronological, and linear narrative is particularly problematic, especially considering the immense influence that colonisation has had on Māori and their identities (Reid et al., 2017). Furthermore, with the collision of two fundamentally different worlds are multiple truths and 'versions' of history, to provide a nuanced account of this is beyond the confines of this thesis. As such, the following section aims to provide a rather simplified understanding of colonisation as it pertains to Māori identity.

In te ao Māori, the past, present and future are intertwined; therefore, the present cannot be understood without considering what has happened in the past. As indigenous people, colonisation is painfully forged in our history as Māori, intertwined with our stories as Māori, and manifests itself in our lived experiences as Māori (L. Smith, 2012). Within the current

7

literature, there exists a tendency to speak of the "legacy of colonialism" rather than its ongoing presence, written in past-tense terms, as if colonisation has not continued to significantly impact Māori on numerous levels (Jackson, 2020; L. Smith, 2012). The terms pre-colonial and post-colonial reinforce the Western-coined narrative that colonisation is an event of the past (Veracini, 2015). However, this narrative puts a timestamp on colonialism and fails to recognise that Māori continue to face the consequences of colonialism to this day (L. Smith, 2012). Given the historical context of colonisation in Aotearoa and its role in the creation of contemporary Māori identities, it is important to journey through previous literature to understand how significantly Māori identity has been impacted by colonisation (Te Huia, 2015).

The Past

Prior to the arrival and the settlement of tauiwi in Aotearoa, tangata whenua (people of the land) existed in accordance with mātauranga Māori and tikanga. Tangata whenua were yet to be exposed to those who were distinctly non-Māori, and as such, tangata whenua identity was without question because there was no ethnic other living in Aotearoa at the time (Cain et al., 2017; Moeke-Pickering, 1996). At the core of mātauranga Māori is whakapapa, which has many different meanings and operates at numerous levels but generally refers to one's genealogy or descent (Rameka, 2018). Whakapapa could also be explained as the process of laying one thing upon another. For example, one could visualise Io-matua-kore, considered the supreme God in Māori creation stories, as the first layer of whakapapa and the foundation. Successive generations are placed on top of Io in ordered layers to comprise an expansive network of whakapapa connections that encompass everything from creation to the present (Cain et al., 2017; Moeke-Pickering, 1996). By this understanding, people were not solely seen as individual beings; their identity was conceptualised through their relationships with others (Gallagher,

2008). These whakapapa relationships comprised the basis of personal, collective and whānau identities and, therefore, at the very core of what it meant to be Māori (Gallagher, 2008; Rameka, 2018; Taonui, 2015). The relationships between people and between people and the physical world emphasise connections that were inextricably linked to identity formation prior to tauiwi arrival (Gallagher, 2008). These delicate relationships will be briefly discussed below.

Whakapapa ki te tangata: Relationships Between People. The past, present and future are intricately intertwined within whakapapa links - a continuum of life from the spiritual world to the physical world (Rameka, 2018). Identity is drawn from the past through one's ancestors to the present through whānau, hapū and iwi groupings and passed on to the future through the next generations (Ngawhare, 2019; Rameka, 2016, 2018). Prior to the arrival of Europeans, there was no single term for tangata whenua; rather, people distinguished themselves from one another by their tribal or iwi names (Walker, 1990, p. 94). The whānau, hapū and iwi groupings connect the individual to the collective through a shared common genealogy (Liu et al., 2005; Moeke-Pickering, 1996; Rameka, 2016; Weber, 2008). The importance of relationships and connectedness emerge through the delicate layers of whānau, hapū and iwi. During this particular time prior to tauiwi arrival, land and resources were important. Therefore these whānau, hapū and iwi relationships were significant in defending and protecting the land they were on (Moeke-Pickering, 1996). Whakapapa relationships within one's iwi grouping were also significant because they helped to enmesh a person in a collective identity (Hamley & Le Grice, 2021), to foster an interconnected sense of identity, belonging, health and well-being (Gallagher, 2008; Moeke-Pickering, 1996).

Whakapapa ki te Whenua - Relationships Between People and the Land. Whakapapa provides a link between people and includes the relationships between people and the whenua (Rameka, 2018). Whakapapa also allows Māori to trace their genealogy back to Papatūānuku, and as tangata whenua, people of the land, it was important to nourish this relationship. After all, the land provided tangata whenua with a geographical location to call tūrangawaewae proudly, but it also provided a source of sustenance needed for survival (Walker, 1990). Tangata whenua identity was intimately associated with the location of iwi boundaries or prominent landmarks in the surrounding environment. It was common to recite these orally as an act of claims-making and also to locate oneself in relation to another iwi (McIntosh, 2006; Rameka, 2018; Walker, 1990). Locating oneself in relation to the features of the land establishes a sense of meaning and belonging to the whenua, something that continues to be reflected in how Māori identify and introduce themselves in the present day through pepeha (Rameka, 2018).

The Arrival of Tauiwi

The arrival and subsequent settlement of the British in the 18th century brought contact between two fundamentally different cultural groups. Early European travellers in Aotearoa referred to the Indigenous people as 'New Zealanders', but eventually, the term 'Māori' was coined as a general label to encompass the entirety of tangata whenua in Aotearoa (Stewart, 2021, p. 36). Prior to the arrival of the Europeans, the word 'māori' was used to refer to something 'natural' rather than in relation to the Māori people (Royal, 2012). However, the cultural differences were significant enough to catalyse a new ethnic identity as Māori. This signalled a post-contact identity shift from tangata whenua - people born of the land, to an

umbrella term that would combine all iwi together. This shift would signal changing times for Māori in relation to the formation and construction of their identity.

Initially, the arrival of settlers, to an extent, was welcomed by tangata whenua due to the variety of foods, weapons, animals and technology that tauiwi had brought with them (Walker, 1990, p. 79). These relationships brought opportunities for trade and for Māori to make their daily lives more efficient. Nevertheless, Māori enthusiasm to take advantage of the opportunities from relationships with the British was mistaken for a willingness to be colonised (Cain et al., 2017, p. 59). This was predicated on the Eurocentric assumption that Māori were racially, religiously, culturally and technologically inferior to the superiority of the British (L. T. Smith, 2012, p. 63; Walker, 1990, p. 85). Māori were believed to be "inferior, lesser human beings" and described as undeveloped savages, and therefore, needed to be civilised (Cunneen & Tauri, 2017, p. 48). There was an expectation that Māori would adapt and assimilate to a British way of living-one that was assumed to be more modern and progressive than the current uncivilised way of living that Māori engaged in. Mātauranga Māori and tikanga, which had previously underpinned Māori political, legal and social groupings, were deemed by the incoming British settlers as "lacking morality, certainty and reasonableness" (Cunneen & Tauri, 2017, p. 48). As such, Māori would be exposed to a period of rapid cultural dispossession, land loss and new colonial systems, which would shift Māori ways of living and being to that which aligned with the values of the colonial settlers (Cunneen & Tauri, 2017; Walker, 1990).

He Whakaputanga o te Rangatiratanga o Nu Tireni. Colonisation presents itself in various forms. One way in particular which has had (and continues to have) a significant impact on Māori has been through government legislation and policy. The increase of European activity

and growing lawlessness in Aotearoa became a cause for concern in the years leading up to 1835. As a result, He Whakaputanga o te Rangatiratanga o Nu Tireni (The Declaration of Independence) was signed to address the challenges that came with European contact (Ruru & Kohu-Morris, 2020). For Māori, the Declaration proclaimed Aotearoa as an independent state in which power and decision-making remained with rangatira; it was also a way of strengthening the alliance between Māori and the British (Cain et al., 2017, p. 57). For Busby, who drafted the Declaration, some would say it was a step towards making New Zealand a British possession, an intermediary form of governance until the British could take hold of the reins (Ministry for Culture and Heritage, 2022).

Te Tiriti o Waitangi. The Treaty of Waitangi was signed in 1840 and remains a highly contested and long-standing subject of debate today. In the years following the signing of He Whakaputanga, the idea of sovereignty was still a relatively newly introduced concept to Māori, who already had their own governing systems in place guided by tikanga (Gallagher, 2008). The Treaty of Waitangi was supposedly an accurate translation of Te Tiriti o Waitangi, despite containing fundamental differences which prove otherwise (Ruru & Kohu-Morris, 2020). To touch briefly on some of these crucial differences, in the Treaty of Waitangi, Māori chiefs gave the Queen absolutely and without reservation all rights and powers of sovereignty over their lands. However, they were guaranteed the 'undisturbed possession of their lands and estates, forests, fisheries and other properties (Wynyard, 2019). In contrast, in Te Tiriti o Waitangi, Māori gave the Crown 'kawanatanga katoa' or complete governorship over their land. Māori were guaranteed tino rangatiratanga, or the unqualified chieftainship over their lands, villages, and taonga. There is no doubt that these documents are not a direct translation of each other, nor do the promises made align with one another. Perhaps one of the most important concerns raised

is why rangatira would readily cede their recently gained sovereignty to the British Crown when only five years prior had they signed He Whakaputanga, in which 'sovereignty' remained with rangatira (Cain et al., 2017, p. 57). These concerns remain heavily debated in contemporary times.

Colonisation (Post-Treaty)

Language Loss. In the years following the signing of the Treaty of Waitangi, policy and legislation continued to impact Māori identity in more specific ways. In 1847, the Education Ordinance Act was one of many acts implemented to aid the assimilation process of Māori (Ka'ai-Mahuta, 2011, p. 201). To colonise Māori minds, English was to be the only language of instruction in what would become compulsory British-based schools for Māori (Cain et al., 2017, p. 59). The Act fuelled the expansion of boarding schools which saw Māori children physically removed from their whānau and separated them from their land, language and culture. Like mātauranga Māori and tikanga, te reo Māori is an inheritance from the ancestors and a gift from the Atua (Te Huia, 2015). The removal of the Māori language from the mouths of its native speakers only aided the colonisation process and swiftly assisted the assimilation of Māori into the language of the Europeans (Cunneen & Tauri, 2017, p. 45; Te Huia, 2015).

Land Loss and Alienation. Further down the historical timeline, policy and legislation continued to wreak havoc on Māori ways of living and being. The gradual alienation and loss of Māori land had devastating consequences on Māori identity, especially considering that identity was intimately associated with the whenua (Rameka, 2018; Walker, 1990). The whenua provided a standing place for Māori to call tūrangawaewae and a place to draw a sense of belonging and strength (Cain et al., 2017, p. 9). In 1862, the Native Lands Act was introduced, followed by an

amended version in 1865. Through the Native Lands Acts, the Native Land Court contributed to the individualisation of Māori land titles (Cain et al., 2017, p. 59; Taonui, 2012). Thus, making land more accessible to purchase by the incoming British settlers whilst simultaneously contradicting the communal values that were intrinsically embedded in Māori social systems (Taonui, 2012). Taking into account that the whenua is so profoundly intertwined with Māori identity, the Native Land Act was to have a detrimental impact on Māori for many years to come (Walker, 1990, p. 136).

The 1860s were rampant with land confiscations by the Government, partly due to the flow-on effect of the Native Land Court, which significantly fuelled the process (Boast, 2015). The introduction of the New Zealand Settlements Act in 1863 paved the way for land confiscations to become even more pervasive (Adds, 2017). The act was intended to introduce settlers onto the land, but in reality, allowed and normalised land confiscation without compensation from the Government. As a result, Māori were left with a rapidly declining land base to stand on, a lack of resources and an identity crisis. After all, how could Māori be tangata whenua if they had no whenua to stand on? People of the land no more, the consequences of displacement continue to impact Māori today (Walker, 1990).

Loss of Political Autonomy. In 1867, the Crown introduced the Māori Representation Act, which would override the political autonomy of Māori and rapidly progress the colonial agenda of the European settlers (Cain et al., 2017, p. 59). Rather than providing political representation for hapū or iwi, this Act would establish a mere four parliament seats for Māori amongst a 72-seat settler Parliament (Cain et al., 2017, p. 59; Taonui, 2016). Compared to their European counterparts, Māori would be significantly underrepresented and lack the political

power within a foreign system of Governance to safeguard and protect Māori ways of living and being for future generations (Cain et al., 2017, p. 59).

During the late 18th century and early 19th century, the expression and exercise of identity and belonging for Māori began to change drastically (Cain et al., 2017, p. 61). Many Māori would begin to find themselves unable to speak te reo Māori, with a severed connection to culture, landless, without access to shelter or food, and with a rapidly declining population due to European-introduced diseases (Cain et al., 2017, p. 61). In the aftermath of legislation and policy changes, aspects of a tangata whenua identity that were once ubiquitous would become less prevalent in society.

Māori Renaissance. The beginning of the 20th century was a time of great difficulty for Māori society, whose population fell to the lowest it had ever been (Royal, 2005). The bright lights of the big cities offered opportunities for Māori in terms of work, money, and pleasure, fuelling the movement of Māori living rurally to urban locations (Meredith, 2015b). The transition to living in cities, often some distance from rural communities, presented a physical hurdle between papakāinga, marae, and contact with whānau, hapū, and iwi. Maintaining a connection with one's home community became increasingly difficult, as did maintaining the cultural values associated with Māori ways of living (Pool & Kukutai, 2018). While some were able to navigate te ao Pākehā successfully and remain connected to te ao Māori, for others, it was easier to adjust to Pākehā lifestyles and values (Meredith, 2015a). This would change how relationships and ways of connecting with people, the physical world, and the Atua were constructed (Meredith, 2015a; Pool & Kukutai, 2018). Consequently, a Māori identity would evolve from within unfamiliar urban spaces.

Despite carrying the consequences of colonisation from the previous centuries, this time was also a period of raised political consciousness and growing awareness of the impact of colonisation on Māori (Greaves et al., 2018). The urbanisation of Māori undoubtedly caused harm to the long-established practices and customs that Māori adhered to before European arrival (Meredith, 2015b; Royal, 2005), including whānau-based relational practices such as whanaungatanga (Le Grice et al., 2017). The cumulative effect of urbanisation brought the imposition of colonial ways of seeing and understanding the self and, simultaneously, a reconfiguration of how Māori would begin to identify themselves (Hamley et al., 2021). As the century progressed, urbanisation would continue to subject Māori to significant harm. However, it would also demonstrate the resiliency of Māori, who began to fight back to resist colonialism and assimilation (Greaves et al., 2018). A larger concentration of the Māori population living in the cities made it easier for Māori to educate each other on the injustices that tangata whenua face as a direct consequence of colonisation (Meredith, 2015b; Pool & Kukutai, 2018) and to take collective solidarity and action (Greaves et al., 2018). Urban enclaves populated with Māori would become sites of resistance that enabled Māori to collectively resist the imposition of colonial ways and collectively empower each other as Māori. Activism and protest movements of many forms and scales were common features during this renaissance period. In 1975, protest movements such as the Māori land march saw Māori and non-Māori march from Northland to the steps of Parliament in Wellington to protest the alienation of Māori land by the Government (Walker, 1990, pp. 212–215). In 1977, Māori coalesced to occupy the whenua of Ngāti Whātua for 506 days in peaceful protest of the selling of their land by the Crown (Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei, 2021). The year 1979 saw He Taua, a collective of Māori students at the University of Auckland, confront a group of engineering students who, for many years, had called it 'tradition' to insult

and mock the Māori culture (Walker, 1990, p. 222). He Taua tried to resolve the issue through the formal channels of the University to seek justice, but when this did not work, resorted to an in-person confrontation - one that put He Taua at risk with the law. The act of protest and activism is embedded in our history as Māori. In its simplest form, it provides a vehicle for Māori to resist the colonial forces which have historically taken so much from us (Greaves et al., 2018).

The Present: Māori Today

Māori have unique origin stories and histories, fundamentally different from those of white or settler New Zealanders, known as Pākehā (Stewart, 2021). Māori identities have continued to evolve and adapt in response to changing circumstances and environments (Reid et al., 2017; Te Huia, 2015). Considering the historical events that have altered and reconstructed a Māori identity, it is worth emphasising that there are now a wider variety of cultural and social features that exist among Māori (Houkamau & Sibley, 2010). So-called 'traditional' values commonly considered to be a central marker of a Māori identity are not the same for all Māori (Durie, 1995). Far from being a homogeneous group, the diversity of Māori presents a challenge to those who wish to conceptualise Māori identity in a condensed and tidy way (Houkamau & Sibley, 2010; Te Huia, 2015). In fact, much of the current literature debates whether it is helpful to have such binary and rigid understandings of what conceptualises a Māori identity (Houkamau & Sibley, 2010; McIntosh, 2006). The following section provides an overview of the literature pertaining to Māori identities.

Many have attempted to conceptualise what a Māori identity entails, some understandings more inclusive than others (Durie, 1995; Houkamau & Sibley, 2010; Kukutai,

2013; McIntosh, 2006; Te Huia, 2015). Durie (1997) posited that cultural identity is the coalescence of personal perceptions, cultural knowledge and participation in Māori society. He argued that a Māori cultural identity could be classified into a secure, positive, notional and compromised identity. Claiming a secure identity rests on the definite self-identification as Māori, coupled with involvement in and knowledge of whakapapa, familiarity with te reo Māori and tikanga Māori. The positive identity has lower engagement and involvement in te ao Māori but still self-identifies as Māori. The notional identity is one in which the individual has no access to te ao Māori but still claims a Māori identity. Lastly, the compromised identity refers to those individuals who have access to te ao Māori but do not self-identify as Māori.

McIntosh (2006) identified three categories of Māori identity, a fixed, fluid and forced identity. According to her definitions, the fixed Māori identity is characterised by cultural markers such as whakapapa, mātauranga Māori and proficiency in te reo Māori and tikanga. This identity adheres to relatively rigid criteria, with fixed elements of identity that can often unintentionally act as an exclusionary mechanism for many Māori. For example, as a consequence of colonisation, many Māori cannot converse in te reo Māori (Te Huia, 2015). A fluid Māori identity is more inclusive with its 'criteria', allowing the individual to borrow and select cultural markers. Here, individuals are able to reconfigure these markers in a way that gives both voice and currency in their social environment and challenges notions of authenticity. This identity is one that is often associated with conceptualisations of an 'urban Māori'. Forced Māori identities are formed under conditions of deprivation. Mcintosh (2006) states that identities are formed from within; however, the forced identity is one that is predominantly based on the perceptions of others.

While there is no single definition of what constitutes a Māori identity, what is certain is that Māori identities are innovative and adaptive to the needs of Māori over time (Hamley et al., 2021). Māori identities are constantly evolving over time, and as they do so, the urgency for literature which reflects this becomes salient.

Māori in Official Statistics

In Aotearoa, estimates of the Māori population are often drawn from the population census (Cormack, 2007). However, over time, there have been considerable changes in how ethnicity data has been collected and reported in Aotearoa. Historically, Māori identity has been categorised according to Western constructions of ethnic identity that are rooted in European and colonial ideas about race (Edwards, 2019; Te Huia, 2015). For much of the twentieth century, the official census used the concept of blood quantum to measure a Māori identity (Te Huia, 2015). Blood quantum was also based on the notion that culture and identity are shaped by one's biology (Borell, 2005). This form of measurement reduced Māori to a fraction-based system premised on the colonial assumption that a Māori identity could be quantified or validated by a number (Kukutai, 2013). By this understanding, an individual may be considered more or less Māori based on a percentage. Having "half or more" percentage of Māori blood meant the individual was officially counted in the Māori population (Borell, 2005; Kukutai, 2013). The notion of blood quantum reflected a gross undermining of Māori conceptions of identity that centred on whakapapa and kinship ties. Although blood quantum has since been disregarded, these conceptualisations continue to be reflected in Māori perceptions of identity at present and manifest in phrases like "half-caste" and "full-blooded" (Borell, 2005).

In official statistics, definitions of the Māori population have since moved away from biological definitions to definitions that centre on ancestry, cultural affiliation and selfidentification with an ethnic group (Borell, 2005; Cormack, 2007; Kukutai, 2013). Currently, the Government offers two options for measuring and claiming a Maori identity: if the individual has Māori ancestry and if they choose to self-identify as having a Māori ethnic identity (Te Huia, 2015). The first can be thought of as whakapapa based, providing a count of people who have descended from a Māori ancestor (Cormack, 2007). The second is a measure of cultural affiliation and enables people to identify with the Māori ethnic group (or groups) they feel they belong to (Te Huia, 2015). While Māori descent and Māori ethnicity are closely related concepts, there is often a discrepancy within the census data between those who indicate having Māori ancestry and those who choose to subscribe to the Māori ethnicity (Bycroft et al., 2016). Within the census, more people often claim Māori descent than those marking their ethnicity as Māori (Webber & Kukutai, 2017). This variation in why some people might embrace their whakapapa or ancestry but choose not to acknowledge themselves as ethnically Māori reinforces the heterogeneous diversity amongst Māori (Bycroft et al., 2016; Greaves, 2014).

Whanaungatanga

Exploring Whanaungatanga

Whanaungatanga is a practice and cultural value deeply embedded within te ao Māori that refers to nurturing relationships through care, connection, common understandings and shared obligations (Hamley et al., 2022). As with many concepts in te ao Māori, whanaungatanga is an intricate and complex word that is difficult to articulate in a brief and concise sentence in te reo Pākehā (Greaves et al., 2021; Hamley et al., 2022; McNatty & Roa,

2002). In translating concepts from te reo Māori to te reo Pākehā, there is often a risk of losing the depth of meaning, and the culturally significant ways of being that contribute to the more profound value of the word itself (Hamley et al., 2022). Whanaungatanga has long been undermined and invalidated through everyday colonising dynamics (Le Grice et al., 2017). Eurocentric (mis)understandings have often reduced whanaungatanga to the building of rapport (Hamley et al., 2022). However, this understanding fails to capture the importance of the cultural contexts that provide the foundation for whanaungatanga to be enacted or expressed (McNatty & Roa, 2002). Hence, the following section aims to provide an overview of the current literature on whanaungatanga to provide a contextual foundation on which whanaungatanga is premised.

In an etymological sense, Ritchie (1992) deconstructs whanaungatanga into three simple elements: whānau, ngā, and tanga. *Whānau* refers to extended family or close kin; *ngā* encompasses the bonds beyond kin and family relationships, and *tanga* is a "process concept concerned with everything about relationships between kin". By this understanding, Ritchie (1992) describes whanaungatanga as the "basic cement that holds things Māori together". In a customary sense, whanaungatanga refers to the interconnectedness and relationships created amongst whānau, hapū, and iwi through whakapapa (O'carroll, 2013). Whanaungatanga was defined entirely in relation to whakapapa and *whanaunga* connections (Metge, 1995). Creating, maintaining, and sustaining relationships ensured that whānau maintained strong relational ties with one another (Durie, 1994). With these connections, the individual was tied to the collective, providing them with a sense of belonging and strengthening each kin group member (Rameka, 2018). Here, a more comprehensive network of connections to draw upon not only signified the

strength of the collective group (Le Grice et al., 2017) but also reinforced the commitment, responsibilities and obligations that whānau members have to each other (Rameka, 2018).

Within contemporary Māori research, the value of whanaungatanga has persisted, despite the urban migration that saw Māori shift to less intensive support networks and systems (Le Grice et al., 2017). Conceptualisations of whanaungatanga have noted the significant role colonisation and urbanisation have played in altering how Māori make sense of their diverse realities and identities (Greaves et al., 2021). In more recent times, definitions of whanaungatanga have extended beyond the whanau, hapū, and iwi to include the relationship between those who are brought together through a common or shared purpose but are not necessarily connected by whakapapa (O'carroll, 2013). Metge (1995) describes this relationship as 'kaupapa whānau', where there is a greater emphasis on establishing whānau-like relationships (Rameka, 2018). As whakapapa connections are no longer an essential component, whanaungatanga can exist between people at all levels of society, including with close family or whānau, friends and other adults (Greaves et al., 2021). In te ao Māori, whanaungatanga connections can also encompass the sense of connectedness fostered with people, place, and the physical and spiritual worlds (Rameka, 2018). These conceptualisations cater to the diverse identities of Maori in contemporary society, especially those living in urban areas (McNatty and Roa, 2002). These various understandings of whanaungatanga bring to light the centrality of relationships within te ao Māori and the need to build family or kin-like relationships (Greaves et al., 2021).

Since whanaungatanga is a broad and multifaceted concept that encompasses many meanings, interpretations and applications (O'carroll, 2013), it is essential to create a working

definition of whanaungatanga for this research. Within the confines of this thesis, the term whanaungatanga refers to the "active participation and sense of belonging in social groups such as whānau, friends, school communities, iwi and hapū, kaupapa-based collectives, organisations or groups, and wider society" (Greaves et al., 2021). This understanding of whanaungatanga includes whakapapa and non-whakapapa relationships between people.

Whanaungatanga, Wellbeing and Identity

The importance and centrality of whanaungatanga has been echoed across a wide range of academic disciplines, including psychology (Greaves et al., 2021; Hamley et al., 2022; Le Grice et al., 2017), health (Lyford & Cook, 2005), social work (Douglas, 2022) and education (Bishop et al., 2014). Within the growing academic literature base, whanaung at angaremains a protective factor for rangatahi Māori and is associated with greater levels of hauora and wellbeing (E. Cooper, 2014; Greaves et al., 2021; Hamley et al., 2021; Le Grice et al., 2017). In tandem with whanaungatanga comes access to an expansive web of underlying connections integral to any child or young person's development (Rameka, 2018). For rangatahi Māori, the ability to invoke an affiliation to whānau, hapū and iwi membership through whakapapa and whanaungatanga networks contributes to that feeling of being a part of something larger than oneself (Rameka, 2018), and the development of a positive sense of self-identity (Rua et al., 2017). It is within this context that meaningful relationships have the potential to occur and a sense of belonging and unity to be fostered (Douglas, 2022; Greaves et al., 2021; Hamley et al., 2022). The opportunity to participate in and build whanaungatanga relationships provides rangatahi with tools to bolster against socio-cultural challenges that Māori face in contemporary times (Rua et al., 2017). Thus, for whanaungatanga to thrive and rangatahi Māori to flourish, it is vital to "rekindle, establish and maintain as many whanaungatanga links as possible" (Kukutai et al., 2016).

Chapter Three: Kaupapa Māori Methodology

Within this chapter, I draw attention to the finer philosophical details of this research project and the theoretical underpinnings and principles that I engaged with throughout to adhere to the research kaupapa. This project is guided and informed by Kaupapa Māori research principles throughout- a way of doing research that is firmly grounded in Māori ways of being (L. Smith, 2015). In engaging with Kaupapa Māori research, it is essential to critically interrogate the dominant epistemologies and ontologies that reflect Western forms of knowledge. This theoretical discussion will bring to the forefront Māori approaches to knowledge and research, situating our ways of knowing and being as valid, authentic, legitimate and normal.

Decolonising Methodologies

Within the realm of academia, research has been utilised as a tool of colonisation that has often failed to contextualise historical and contemporary events that determine Indigenous realities and experiences (Wilson et al., 2021). Indigenous perspectives and ways of knowing have been marginalised, mistreated, misrepresented and silenced in favour of Western knowledge, despite the long-standing existence of Indigenous knowledge prior to European arrival (Smith, 2015; Wilson et al., 2021). Academia, within the constraints of a Eurocentric lens, has often subjected Māori to scrutiny (L. T. Smith, 2012), establishing the positional superiority and dominance of Western knowledge (F. Smith, 2020). Research in this context, more often than not, fails to produce research that benefits Māori in useful or transformative ways (G. Smith, 1997).

Kaupapa Māori research as a theoretical framework came to fruition during a period of the Māori renaissance when there was increased recognition that Māori were progressively suffering from the consequences of political, cultural and economic marginalisation (Henry & Pene, 2001). The production of knowledge, the construction of knowledge, and the validity of specific types of knowledge have predominantly been dictated by a Western Eurocentric understanding of what counts as knowledge and what does not (L. T. Smith, 2012). This understanding of knowledge and theory has acted and continues to act as a vehicle for the colonial exploitation of Māori (Henry & Pene, 2001). Having evolved from within the praxis of Māori schooling and the education domain, Kaupapa Māori is a move to reclaim space by Māori to ensure that research that concerns Māori meets our needs and aspirations (F. Smith, 2020; G. Smith, 1997). In a collective effort to prioritise the well-being of Māori and to avoid furthering the colonial agenda, Māori intellectuals within academia would develop a Kaupapa Māori paradigm - a theoretical space in which Māori would have complete and total autonomy and tino rangatiratanga over the research process (Henry & Pene, 2001; Pihama et al., 2002; G. Smith, 1997). Within this space, Māori knowledge, language and culture are taken for granted, prioritised and regarded as legitimate (L. Smith, 2015). Māori political resistance and the fierce collective pursuit for mana motuhake and tino rangatiratanga has inspired an environment in which Māori academics have begun to challenge western models of knowledge and knowledge construction - this has been central to the development of Kaupapa Māori research (Henry & Pene, 2001; F. Smith, 2020). Resistance stemmed from the concern that practices, especially within research and academia, would continue to privilege Western knowledge while simultaneously invalidating Māori knowledge, language and culture (L. T. Smith, 2012).

The theoretical foundation of Kaupapa Māori research and theory stems from Kaupapa Māori (Henry & Pene, 2001; Wilson et al., 2021). Broadly speaking, Kaupapa Māori literally means "the Māori way or agenda", and it is a term used to describe the traditional Māori ways of doing, being and thinking encompassed within a Māori worldview or cosmology (Henry & Pene, 2001). While the academic terminology of Kaupapa Māori research and theory is relatively new, the term Kaupapa Māori is not a new phenomenon but rather a continuation of the legacy of our tūpuna (Pihama, 2001; Taki, 1996). As Pihama (2015) explains in the following passage:

Our ancestors have always theorised about our world. The navigational expertise of our people highlights a deep understanding of a range of sciences related to building waka, tides and sea movement, distance navigation, cosmology and much more. Each skill and knowledge area requires the development of frameworks for understanding and explaining the knowledge base that informs Kaupapa Māori. As such, Kaupapa Māori theory is based upon and informed by mātauranga Māori. (p. 6)

Mātauranga Māori is created through the use of whakapapa - an analytical tool that Māori have utilised to understand our world and our relationships (Pihama, 2015). By this understanding, through the vehicle of whakapapa, the origins of mātauranga Māori return back to Māori creation stories involving Papatūānuku and Ranginui (Nepe, 1991; Pihama, 2015; Royal, 1999). Kaupapa Māori knowledge, therefore, lays its foundational roots within Māori worldviews, language and tikanga and is gathered through a system of beliefs, experiences, understandings, and the histories of the Māori people (Nepe, 1991).

Epistemology

Knowledge has always held a central position within Māori society (Pihama, 2001). However, Indigenous knowledge, and more specifically, Māori knowledge, has not always been given the same degree of significance as Western ways of knowing (L. Smith, 2012). In fact, academia has traditionally subjected Māori individuals and communities to scrutiny (L. T. Smith, 2012), analysing, categorising and pathologising Māori in unhelpful and often impractical ways (Pihama, 2001; Tupaea, 2020). Western discourse has perpetuated epistemological racism and violence that continues to 'other' Māori people and favours those of the dominant discourse (Tiakiwai, 2015). As a consequence, the emergence of power imbalances within research relationships arises. More often than not, the researcher maintains control over what counts as legitimate knowledge and what does not (Tiakiwai, 2015). Western epistemologies and ontologies have often failed to contextualise the historical and contemporary events that have contributed to Indigenous realities and experiences (Wilson et al., 2021). As a form of resistance to the hegemonic practices of Western research, Indigenous academics are beginning to recognise and challenge the unequal power dynamic in research and, more broadly, society by utilising epistemologies and ontologies that provide a more relevant and appropriate experience for their people (F. Smith, 2020; Tiakiwai, 2015; Wilson et al., 2021). For Māori, this comes in the form of Kaupapa Maori.

Kaupapa Māori knowledge originates from Papatūānuku, from mātauranga and tikanga Māori (Henry & Pene, 2001). This knowledge stems directly from the navigational expertise and experiences of our ancestors, who held a deep understanding of the sciences in relation to building waka, tides and sea movement, distance navigation and cosmology, to name a few

(Pihama, 2015). While seemingly trivial knowledge by the dominant Western standards, it is worth noting that each of these knowledge areas requires the development of frameworks for understanding and explaining the knowledge base that informs Kaupapa Māori. Kaupapa Māori theory is based upon and informed by mātauranga Māori - ways of being and knowing and worldviews that encompass distinctive theories about what is real and what is true (Pihama, 2001, 2015; Wilson et al., 2021). It is a culturally defined and determined framework shaped by the knowledge, experiences and diverse histories of the Māori people (Nepe, 1991; Pihama, 2015).

Within this research, I have drawn upon a social constructionist epistemology to decentre and critically interrogate the dominant colonial discourse. A social constructionist epistemology posits that there is no singular truth to our experiences, nor is there an objective way of knowing the social world (Braun & Clarke, 2013). Instead, knowledge is constructed, given meaning to, and reproduced through the language, social processes and interactions one engages in (Burr, 2015; Linsay-Latimer, 2018; F. Smith, 2020). Therefore, knowledge is a socially generated phenomenon that relies on human interpretation (Martel et al., 2021). The political, social, cultural and historical intertwine to shape multiple perspectives and ways of being that can coexist in parallel (Burr, 2015). In tandem with Kaupapa Māori research, social constructionism explores new possibilities and offers alternatives to the status quo that marginalises mātauranga Māori.

Ontology

Not only have Western theories and Eurocentric approaches to research diminished Indigenous knowledge bases, but they have also acted to suppress Māori ontologies or ways of being. Māori ways of knowing (epistemology) and being (ontology) are intimately associated with tikanga, whanaungatanga, wairuatanga and kaitiakitanga (Henry & Pene, 2001). Taken together, the coalescence of these ethics that Henry and Pene (2001) suggest informs a Māori ontology and the assumptions of human nature about 'what is real' for Māori. Salmond (1993) states that a Māori ontology considers two aspects of human existence - one visible, tangible and every day, the other invisible, intangible and extraordinary. Western paradigms have often delegitimised and failed to comprehend the physical and metaphysical relationships between people and the environment deeply entrenched in Māori cultures, worldviews, cosmologies and realities (Cooper, 2017; Martel et al., 2021; Wilson et al., 2021). For example, Western discourse will frequently translate wairuatanga to 'spirituality', which posits our specific knowledge within a supernatural realm, removing mātauranga from rational thought and delegitimising its importance (Mika, 2017). Within this project, I considered the importance of wairuatanga in research, in tandem with the experiences, ideas and beliefs of rangatahi Māori as real, valid and legitimate. This approach aligns with a critical realist approach to research (Braun & Clarke, 2013).

Alongside centring a Māori ontology, I have also drawn from a critical realist perspective that acknowledges the potential for Māori ontologies to create space for new knowledge while simultaneously challenging the dominant Eurocentric paradigms. Critical realism highlights the importance of lived experiences as real, valid and meaningful to the lives of rangatahi Māori. Collaborators' diverse experiences are not only interpreted as 'real' and 'valid', but it is also crucial to interpreting the experiences of rangatahi Māori as fluid, multiple and varied (Le Grice, 2014).

Current Research Project

The current research project situates itself within the realm of Kaupapa Māori research and aims to contribute to this existing body of literature. Deeply rooted in Kaupapa Māori research principles, this research is premised on Māori ways of living and being. Mātauranga and tikanga Māori are prioritised and considered the norm, not the other. Through these vehicles of knowledge, it is my aim to foster tino rangatiratanga for rangatahi Māori.

Chapter Four: Kaupapa Māori Methods

Within this chapter, I explore the finer details of this particular research project, the wider project from which this data was collected, and the demographics of the rangatahi involved whom we collaborated with. Following this, I speak to the thematic analysis method I employed for this thesis.

Data Collection

The Wider Research Project

This thesis is situated within a broader project spearheaded by Te Rōpū Hiko. The wider project- titled 'Harnessing the Spark of Life: Maximising whānau contributors to Rangatahi Wellbeing' is the combined effort and contributions of many individuals, not solely the mahi of one. The wider research project obtained ethics approval by the University of Auckland Human Participants Ethics Committee on the 21st of November 2017 for three years (Reference number 020085).

The wider Harnessing the Spark of Life project aimed to explore how whanaungatanga influences health and well-being for rangatahi Māori. From the inception of this project, right through to the dissemination stages, this project engaged in a Kaupapa Māori research methodology to ensure that this research foregrounds Māori aspirations and uplifts mātauranga Māori (Lindsay Latimer et al., 2021). The wider project utilised a mixed-methods sequential exploratory design and was separated into three phases. *Phase one* consisted of three parts; part (A) involved a participatory photo-voice methodology in which 51 rangatahi Māori documented in pictures their understanding of whanaungatanga and how this influenced their well-being. The

photos were then used to stimulate discussion in semi-structured group interviews with rangatahi and their whānau. In part (B) of phase one, semi-structured individual interviews were conducted with 13 Māori practitioners who work with rangatahi and whānau in Northland, Auckland, Waikato and Canterbury regions in Aotearoa. Part (C) of phase one involved drawing together this data to develop a more nuanced understanding of the mechanisms of whanaungatanga that contribute to rangatahi well-being. *Phase two* drew on the findings from phase one to develop a set of survey questions to measure the components of whanaungatanga. *Phase three* was concerned with the dissemination of findings. My introduction to the research project came during phase three - the dissemination phase.

The Present Research Context

The current research project explores the interaction between whanaungatanga and identity and how this supports hauora and well-being for rangatahi Māori.

Collaborator Demographics. 51 rangatahi Māori from Te Tai Tokerau, Tāmaki Makaurau and Waikato, were asked to creatively explore via photos what whanaungatanga means to them, and how whanaungatanga influences their well-being. Subsequently, these rangatahi were then interviewed, and the photos were used as a visual aid to foster discussion. While the kōrero from each rangatahi collaborator was rich and produced valuable insight, this thesis reports on the experiences of four rangatahi Māori to provide a more nuanced understanding of their realities, perspectives and experiences concerning identity. This meant that I could delve into a richer and more nuanced understanding of the lives and experiences of four rangatahi instead of a superficial grasp of all 51 rangatahi experiences.

Data was drawn from four rangatahi in total, including two rangatahi wāhine and two rangatahi tāne. Rangatahi varied in age, the youngest being 17 and the oldest being 22. Three of the rangatahi identified with a different iwi (Ngāpuhi, Te Rarawa, Ngātiwai ki Aotea), with the exception of one rangatahi wāhine who did not know her iwi, but still identified as Māori.

Despite this, her inclusion in this thesis is important because it highlights the diverse and genuine realities of contemporary Māori identities that rangatahi maintain (Borell, 2005). Each of the four rangatahi collaborators was from a mixture of rural and urban backgrounds, one rangatahi tāne rural, one semi-rural, one rangatahi wāhine urban Māori and the other wāhine urban Māori, but raised tuturu Māori.

Rangatahi are at the heart of this study; therefore, it was essential to uphold the mana of our rangatahi collaborators and respect the korero they shared. Maintaining anonymity and confidentiality remain at the forefront of my intentions throughout this thesis. To preserve anonymity, protect their identities, and avoid potential harm to our rangatahi and their whānau, pseudonym names have been used in place of their own. Care was taken in allocating pseudonym names to each of our rangatahi collaborators and their whānau, and it was only fitting to draw on names within te ao Māori that reflected the mana of each of our collaborators. Furthermore, identifying information was removed; this included whānau names, locations and contextual information. Instead, identifying information was replaced with more general descriptions in brackets where the specific context would have been identifiable.

Photo Elicitation

A Kaupapa Māori methodology validates mātauranga Māori. It ensures that research includes cultural values significant to our knowledge and ways of being - this includes visual storytelling methods such as photovoice (Mark & Boulton, 2017). Photovoice as a method provides an opportunity for Māori to become the researchers and not merely the researched (Cunneen & Tauri, 2017, p. 30), therefore, honouring the value of their subjective experiences (Jones et al., 2010). Moving beyond the confines of literary structures on a page (Lee, 2009), rangatahi Māori collaborators who engaged in the project were asked to capture visual representations of what whanaungatanga means to them and how it influences their well-being. These pictures provided a starting point for discussion during interviews. While it offers a glimpse into the lives of rangatahi Māori, it simultaneously represents a movement away from Eurocentric understandings of knowledge and towards the reclamation of Māori knowledge.

Data Analysis

Reflexive Thematic Analysis

Thematic analysis is a widely used qualitative method within psychology (Braun & Clarke, 2022). At a basic level, thematic analysis is useful for identifying, analysing, and interpreting patterns of meaning (themes) within qualitative data (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Since its inception in 2006, Braun and Clarke have written extensively on thematic analysis, allowing them to refine their thinking and approach (Braun & Clarke, 2013, 2017, 2019, 2021, 2022). Braun and Clarke have since come to refer to thematic analysis by the term Reflexive Thematic Analysis (Reflexive TA), as this recognises that a reflexive researcher is a fundamental characteristic of thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2022). Reflexivity involves the critical reflection and interrogation of the researcher's values, the methods and aspects of design, and,

more broadly, the academic discipline. This reflexive process shapes how research and knowledge are produced. Researcher subjectivity becomes an essential component of the reflexive process and contrasts the Western discourse notions of "researcher bias" (Braun & Clarke, 2022). The theoretical flexibility of reflexive thematic analysis allows for the application and use across a range of disciplines and epistemological methods - this makes it suitable for use with Kaupapa Māori research.

Braun and Clarke have composed a six-phase process for doing reflexive TA - the phases exist as robust guidelines rather than rigid rules. From their most recent articulation of Reflexive TA, six phases of reflexive thematic analysis are as follows: (1) Familiarisation with the dataset and writing familiarisation notes; (2) Data Coding; (3) Generating initial themes from coded and collated data; (4) Developing and reviewing themes; (5) Refining, defining and naming themes; and (6) Writing up and producing the report. The following sections are how I utilised Braun and Clarke's Reflexive TA for this specific research project.

Data Familiarisation and Writing Familiarisation Notes. The first phase involved familiarising and immersing myself in the data. This phase involved reading and re-reading through rangatahi transcripts, repeatedly viewing the associated photos, and listening to korero from rangatahi through audio recordings of interviews. I had the honour of meeting these rangatahi for the first time through their transcripts, photos, and stories. As I was not involved with collecting the data or transcribing of interviews, it was imperative that I spend additional time familiarising myself with the data to gain a more intimate understanding of each rangatahi and their personal experiences. To become deeply immersed in the data, I listened to each audio transcript while simultaneously reading through the corresponding transcripts and photos - this

allowed me to familiarise myself with the data and check the transcripts against the original audio to ensure accuracy. After my initial engagement, I began to take notes and highlight potential points of interest to examine how rangatahi narratives provide insight into experiences of identity, whanaungatanga, hauora and well-being and the broader colonial contexts in which these experiences have developed. I also kept a reflexive journal to note my initial analytic ideas, which helped me to find meaning from the data. The potential direction of my research project came from within the familiarisation phase.

Systematic Data Coding. The second phase of the analysis process involved identifying sections of data that appeared to be potentially interesting, relevant or meaningful in relation to how whanaungatanga interacts with identity and how this supports hauora and well-being for rangatahi Māori. After identifying segments of data, the next step is to assign codes (labels) to them. Each interview transcript was copied into a Microsoft word document during this process. From here, I worked my way through each interview to highlight potential patterns for a deeper, nuanced investigation to create codes for interesting features of the data. The codes identified were both semantic and latent, although it is important to note that these exist on a continuum. Some of the codes identified were semantic and were drawn specifically from rangatahi accounts, and other codes became more latent as the analysis process developed.

Generating Initial Themes. During the third phase of Reflexive TA, I examined the initial codes identified in the previous phase and began to consider how the codes were related to each other – which codes could be clustered together to form potential themes, and which could be collapsed to become potential candidates for sub-themes. Braun and Clarke (2006) suggest visual representations to help aid this phase – I chose to transfer the code labels into a separate

Microsoft word document. From here, I adjusted and altered the different codes until I had established ten very broad provisional candidate themes.

Developing and Reviewing Themes. The fourth phase involved assessing the relevancy and fit of the provisional candidate themes in relation to the coded extracts and the full dataset. This was both an extensive and recursive process in which I spent a considerable amount of time editing, reviewing and reformulating the confines of candidate themes. This was to ensure that themes were related but also possessed their own distinct aspect of uniqueness.

Refining, Defining and Naming Themes. The next phase was ongoing and evolved throughout the writing process. The refining, defining and naming of themes came after substantial discussion and careful consideration with my supervisor. This developed gradually and occurred by looking at each of the themes to ensure that they told a coherent story. At this phase, it was also important for me to ascertain the 'essence' of each theme - this was a repetitive process. The final themes are as follows; Healing the Mamae: Reconnecting to te ao Māori and to Identity, Home, the Place, Home, the People, Navigating te ao Pākehā: Being Māori in a Pākehā World, and Honouring our Past, Fostering our Future: The Pursuit of Tino Rangatiratanga.

Writing Up: Weaving the Threads. The final phase involved writing up and producing a thesis. During this phase, I weaved together the narrative, accompanied by supporting data extracts, to craft a coherent story from the korero of our rangatahi Māori collaborators'.

Chapter Five: Analysis and Discussion

At this point of this research project, I have detailed my motivations for engaging in this research - highlighting my journey as a rangatahi wāhine in the process of reclaiming my Māori identity. Following this, I explored the relevant literature related to Māori identities before attending to the literature pertaining to the colonisation of Māori. I then tended to the relevant methodological literature and described the methods utilised within this research. The preceding chapters set the scene and provide context for the following analytic chapter, in which I will explore our rangatahi collaborator's stories of identity, whanaungatanga and well-being. This chapter is presented together with an analysis and discussion of information.

Healing the Mamae: Reconnecting to Te Ao Māori and Identity

Throughout this analytic section, it is my aim to explore the korero of rangatahi Māori, which describes the myriad of ways in which they unload, soothe and heal the mamae in their lives. The korero from each rangatahi provides valuable insight into their world through their eyes while concurrently bringing to light elements of identity for rangatahi Māori. Within this section, I seek to explore how identity is navigated in the everyday lives of rangatahi Māori and how practices of identity are both unconsciously and consciously embedded in the ways that rangatahi navigate their mamae. Here, I briefly explore rangatahi accounts of their mamae, with emphasis on the use of tikanga as a tool to unload and soothe the mamae in their lives and how this relates to the expression of identity.

Before delving into this section, it is important to discuss the notion of mamae briefly.

The term 'mamae' is generally used to describe a source of pain (Marques et al., 2021).

However, it can also be used to refer to an individual's state of being following a traumatic event

or shock (L. P. Pihama et al., 2019). Mamae can be felt and experienced for several reasons. Within their korero, all of our rangatahi collaborators mentioned having experienced some form of mamae or pain throughout their young lives. Whether this mamae was caused by the loss of a whānau member, death by suicide, or in one rangatahi wāhine case, the impact of a natural disaster on the place that she calls home, our rangatahi collaborators continued to employ various tactics and methods to unload, soothe and heal the mamae in their lives. This section is a testament to the strength of our rangatahi Māori to persevere through this pain.

Turning to Tikanga Māori

In this subsection, I analyse and discuss how rangatahi Māori employ tikanga Māori to heal and soothe their mamae associated with loss, grief and pain. Tikanga Māori is situated within the spiritual realm of the Atua and was handed down from tūpuna to the present (Gallagher, 2008). The flexibility of tikanga provides a variety of understandings and techniques to help rangatahi cope with loss in their everyday lives. As aforementioned, deep mamae or pain was experienced by rangatahi in a multitude of ways. For example, in relation to whakamomori, one rangatahi tāne gave a compelling account of how he unpacks the mamae in his life:

Kawiti: Thinking about things like suicide, loss is a huge thing for a lot of these victims of suicide. Loss. Loss of a family member, loss of a friend and I've seen firsthand people who have succumbed to that. That to me is a way of remedying or contributing to helping our people with this situation of suicide. Tikanga. Understanding. Understanding that all things in nature have a balance. True Māori people who have been raised and taught in their tikanga will understand. They all understand. They will feel the hurt, they will feel the sorrow but they

will also have the understanding and the strength to come through it. To go there into that pain and come through it. Through understanding of tikanga. Through understanding of kawa and why we do things, how we do things"

In Aotearoa, Māori are disproportionately affected by suicide, with the overall rate of deaths by suicide higher for Māori in comparison to non-Māori (New Zealand Parliament, 2022). In previous years, rangatahi tāne between the ages of 15-24 have had the highest death rates of any group in the country. Considering the sombre statistics, it becomes increasingly important for rangatahi Māori to equip themselves with tools in their kete that will allow them to heal their mamae, especially concerning whakamomori and the pain associated with this. For this rangatahi tane, knowledge of tikanga and kawa provides a way of "remedying" or "helping our people" with the hurt, sorrow and pain that comes with loss. For Kawiti, the knowledge of tikanga brings an understanding that "all things within nature have a balance", and when someone passes away, this balance may become disrupted for those who remain in the physical realm (Lawson-Te Aho, 2013). Without explicitly stating it, this rangatahi eloquently captures the notion of "wairua". Wairua is fundamental to Māori ways of being; without a sense of spiritual awareness, the individual is considered to lack well-being (Valentine et al., 2017). The stabilising of wairua and the healing of mamae extends beyond the psychological and emotional level and operates within the spiritual or wairua level (Lawson-Te Aho, 2013). While hurt and sorrow are associated with the physical death that has occurred, there is also an understanding that this person remains intact spiritually. This knowledge and understanding gives those who understand the tikanga surrounding loss the strength to move through their mamae. There is the capacity for hope in knowing that life in this physical realm is a temporary part of life and that the spirit lives on in eternity (Lawson-Te Aho, 2013). Tending to the relationship between the living and those who

have passed away from this physical realm can be a powerful way to soothe and heal mamae.

This can be achieved through many different avenues of tikanga practices, and one common way is through karakia.

The reciting of karakia provides an outlet for healing mamae and involves calling the Atua for comfort and easing pain or distress (Riki-Tuakiritetangata & Ibarra-Lemay, 2021). Situated within the realm of rongoā Māori, there are many different types of karakia for different occasions and purposes (Mark et al., 2017). Through karakia, a bond is formed between the person reciting the karakia and the spiritual dimension they identify with - whether this is with Ngā Atua, to specific whānau members who have passed on, or more broadly to the universe. For one rangatahi collaborator, the reciting of karakia allowed him to step into the spiritual world and express tikanga knowledge in a time of distress:

Kawiti: So theres this one night, it was pouring down, hailing. I thought, yeah, that was the tohu for me coz that was the worst night I was there. So where I was: I broke into karakia. I was in karakia, in my own world for...I don't know how long. Then it came to a point when the rain stopped and then I went to bed. Then when I woke up the next day and we had all been gathered back into a group. All the girls - the one next to me, on top and the one next to me down bottom of the hill, they were all talking about "oh my gosh! You sounded like a wizard chanting and we were all freaking out!", Oh sorry...and I explained to them and they were like "oh far that's awesome!" yeah and I was explaining to them what our tikanga is, when it comes to karakia. If you're in time of distress, if you're in need, even if you're just giving thanks or blessings of, - it doesn't have to be when you need something or distressed.

After seeing a tohu which he believed symbolised the passing of his nan, Kawiti describes falling back onto the use of karakia to invoke the spiritual guidance and protection of the Atua during a deeply distressing time for him. For this rangatahi tāne, being able to readily draw on kaupapa Māori and tikanga knowledge such as karakia allowed him to find support and guidance from the Atua. Possessing the knowledge of karakia then becomes a valuable and useful tool to have inherited from being raised in te ao Māori. As someone who was brought up in te ao Māori and immersed in tikanga, Kawiti is a testament to the merits of knowing your tikanga. In this instance, tikanga practices in the form of karakia have allowed Kawiti to draw support from the Atua to find an understanding of "what is right, what is normal, what is natural"- resulting in the sense of assurance and certainty for this rangatahi tāne, during a time of great uncertainty.

Situated in contrast to this rangatahi tāne's experience are those rangatahi who were not brought up with the knowledge of tikanga and karakia. Due to the obstruction of colonialism and urbanisation (Hirini & Collings, 2005), the reality for many rangatahi Māori is that the knowledge and understanding contained within tikanga have not been transmitted or rightfully inherited through the generations. As a result, tikanga, and more broadly, mātauranga Māori, is something that many 'urban' rangatahi are taking steps to reconnect with and relearn (Lawson-Te Aho, 2013). While karakia is one vehicle for expressing wairuatanga and the soothing of mamae, it is not the only way rangatahi can express their connection to the Atua, to those who have passed on or to the environment that surrounds us. For example, this rangatahi wāhine utilised her voice to connect with the whenua and unload her mamae:

Aotea: "kōrero - it can be to people, to Tangaroa, to the whenua. I always sing when I'm by myself. I just feel it's the best way, for me personally, to connect".

For this rangatahi wāhine, being able to kōrero to people, to ngā Atua and to the whenua was a vessel to connect herself with the wider world. Having found a way to connect herself to te ao Māori personally, the simple acts of talking and singing to the Atua, to people and the whenua have provided Aotea with a similar sense of assurance and certainty in the same way that reciting karakia does. Thus, establishing a wairua connection with the Atua through the power of talking and singing. For some rangatahi Māori, like Aotea, who are in the process of reclaiming their knowledge, their voices were a tool of great importance. Karakia is one way of finding reassurance and comfort, but Aotea demonstrates that one should never underestimate the power of a conversation. Engaging in simple conversation with ngā Atua is a powerful and easily accessible tool to engage with the Atua for guidance and support, especially if that individual does not have knowledge of tikanga Māori or karakia.

Theme Summary: Weaving Together the Threads

While rangatahi like Kawiti can readily draw on their knowledge of tikanga practices and tap into their knowledge of karakia to connect themselves with the Atua when they require support, rangatahi like Aotea use their voices as a tool to establish a wairua connection with the Atua through the power of korero and song. Here we have an example of two diverse rangatahi Māori, one who has inherited the knowledge of tikanga and karakia during his upbringing, and one who did not. Although raised in different environments, both rangatahi Māori draw on support from higher external sources within te ao Māori. For Kawiti, a connection to his

mātauranga Māori and tikanga occurs naturally and unconsciously. For Aotea, her connection to mātauranga Māori and tikanga is activated when she is in contact with te taiao. Despite these differences, both rangatahi Māori show a connection to whakapapa and to mātauranga through the people who have come before them. This highlights that regardless of their te reo Māori me ōna tikanga knowledge, there are many ways to establish an emotional or spiritual relationship and balance with the world, and therefore, many ways to soothe and heal mamae.

Returning to te Taiao

In this section, I delve into and discuss the relationship between rangatahi collaborators and te taiao. The tendency of rangatahi to gravitate towards te taiao to ease their anxieties when faced with uncertainty, difficulty or loss within their lives was a common narrative shared by all rangatahi collaborators. Rangatahi spoke passionately about their adoration for being immersed in nature and the influence that te taiao has on shaping their lives. From exploring the ngahere to being by the ocean, rangatahi collaborators employed a number of both specific and broad ways of engaging with te taiao, which contributed to their hauora and the healing of their mamae on different scales. For some rangatahi collaborators, immersing themselves in te taiao was a way of alleviating daily stressors. As this rangatahi tāne further explains:

Maihi: I was a bit nervous getting back into uni and what that would entail and what I'd have to do and I think just seeing that kinda kept my mind at peace. I'm very much a nature person. I love taking pictures of nature. I love being in nature and I love seeing nature. So I think that always gives me peace of mind when I see te taiao.

In this passage, Maihi fervently describes his love for te taiao, claiming te taiao as a part of his identity and who he is. The significance of being in nature is reflected in how this rangatahi tāne speaks of te taiao. The act of physically being present in te taiao and seeing photos of te taiao provides a way of keeping his mind at peace. Thus, when Maihi voices his concerns about returning to his University studies and the uncertainty and anxiety that this causes him, it seems obvious that Maihi would look to te taiao to manage these concerns. It is clear by the way in which Maihi speaks of te taiao, that the influence of nature in this rangatahi tāne's life is important.

Māori have always shared a special and intimate relationship with te taiao (Centre for Indigenous Psychologies, Massey University, 2021; Rangiwai, 2018). The therapeutic nature inherently embedded in te taiao cannot be overstated. The association of te taiao as a place of therapy and calmness reflects the intricate relationship between Māori and the natural environment. This relationship is ever present in Māori ways of being, cultural beliefs, values and practices (Tassell-Matamua et al., 2021). Within the current literature, engagement in te taiao has been identified as a key indicator of Māori well-being (McLachlan et al., 2021) and, more broadly, as an important part of the development of individual and collective well-being and identity (Rangiwai, 2018). Maihi's kōrero brings to light the therapeutic nature of something as simple as returning to te taiao can have on hauora and well-being and in healing various forms of mamae that Māori may experience.

The power of immersing oneself in te taiao to soothe and heal mamae was also observed within the korero of other rangatahi collaborators on a much larger scale beyond everyday

uncertainties and anxieties. For example, this rangatahi wāhine describes how she healed her mamae following a life-changing experience:

Hinewaoriki: I first went to Nepal which was in 2015 I think, 2014, just before the earthquake, I was hugely connected to it. Like it changed my life, changed my spiritual awareness, everything. And obviously after the earthquake I was a mess. Pretty much we arrived in Auckland the day before it happened, we just missed it, and then after I just wanted to get back outdoors - reconnect with it. Mum would take me out on hikes or walks during the day, even if it was just out to Karekare or Piha, just getting out of the city"

Hinewaoriki describes a deep and life-changing mamae associated with a natural disaster that occurred in Nepal, a place which this rangatahi collaborator is "hugely connected to".

Describing herself as "a mess" in the aftermath of the earthquake, Hinewaoriki details how this experience changed her wairua or "spiritual awareness". The mamae experienced was intensified for this rangatahi wāhine, who was now physically distant from Nepal and back in New Zealand. In an attempt to soothe her mamae and realign her spiritual awareness, Hinewaoriki mentions a need to "reconnect" with the outdoors and specifically details going for hikes or walks in locations outside of the city. Situating herself within the ngahere of Karekare and the moana of Piha allows Hinewaoriki to feel spiritually close to those who remain in Nepal, despite being physically distant from them. For Hinewaoriki, the outdoors and environment surrounding her represents a place of familiarity and comfort as well as a reminder of Nepal. Traversing distance and time to connect with Nepal and realign her wairua and spiritual awareness all the way from Aotearoa speaks to the significance of the relationship that Hinewaoriki has with te taiao. This rangatahi wāhine's connection to the natural environment

demonstrates the healing qualities of te taiao (McLachlan et al., 2021). Natural environments such as lands, mountains and waterways provide an opportunity for rangatahi to "reconnect", and in a wider sense, it allows Hinewaoriki to embrace her identity as Māori without realising it (Sciascia, 2016).

Theme Summary: Weaving Together the Threads

For Maihi and Hinewaoriki, a similarity that each of their stories shares is that they were living away front the places that were significant to them. For Maihi, a return to complete his University studies meant that he would have to leave his homelands again and return to the city. For Hinewaoriki, being back in New Zealand meant she could not physically be in Nepal, a place of huge significance to her. Irrespective of the diverse contemporary realities that Māori find themselves in today, each of these rangatahi Māori remains connected through wairua to the whenua which they long to be on. Furthermore, there is a nostalgic element to physically being on the whenua and in te taiao of their current place of dwelling. For both rangatahi, the whenua and te taiao in their current place of dwelling is a nostalgic reminder of memories, experiences and relationships associated with their homelands and places of significance. Thus, producing a sense of connection wherever they are in the world.

Home the Place, Home the People

Within this theme, I delve into the intricate connection between people and place throughout rangatahi Māori perceptions of 'home'. The life experiences and backgrounds of our rangatahi collaborators were diverse, and each conceptualisation of home reflected their own unique experiences. In sharing their valuable insights, rangatahi also shared commonalities in

their understanding of what makes a home, home. Broadly speaking, rangatahi tended to associate home with a place of safety, belonging, and peace. More specifically, while there was no one definition of home for our rangatahi collaborators, their perceptions of home focused on two particular aspects. For some rangatahi, home was defined in relation to whakapapa and connections with people, such as whānau and family - home the people. For other rangatahi, home was conceptualised with regard to a physical place and connections with geographical locations - home the place. Within all of our rangatahi collaborator's understandings of home, there is a strong emphasis on the connections between people and place. These connections will be explored in further detail below.

For rangatahi Māori, the home was not solely a physical dwelling; it was where rangatahi could connect with and build connections with their whānau members. The whānau unit tended to incorporate those who shared whakapapa bonds. Whānau included parents, siblings or grandparents but was also inclusive of those relationships with individuals who did not share whakapapa bonds, such as partners or friends who were "like whānau". This understanding transcends well beyond a Western nuclear family structure to provide a broader and more inclusive understanding of diverse rangatahi realities (Walker, 1990). A more embracing sense of whānau also provides more people for rangatahi to draw support from in times of need.

Therefore, maintaining a connection with our whānau is vital for Māori (Boulton, Allport, Kaiwai, Harker, et al., 2021; Sciascia, 2016), especially for our rangatahi collaborators, who described their whānau as "cornerstones" and "anchors" who kept rangatahi grounded and their "minds at peace". This allowed rangatahi to feel "supported" in their everyday lives. The influence of whānau in the lives of rangatahi is immense (Hamley & Grice, 2021), and for some

rangatahi collaborators, home was about their relationships with and connection to their whānau.

As detailed by this rural-based rangatahi tāne:

Kawiti: who are you without your whānau?" and you look at some cultures and you just feel sorry because they don't know that feeling. That feeling of being a part of more than you are, a part of more people, more places, you know... that hononga

When speaking of his home, this rangatahi tāne emphasises, "Who are you without your whānau?" recognising the role of the whānau and, more broadly, the collective in the lives of rangatahi Māori. Here, Kawiti places great importance on the "hononga", or the connection that the individual experiences with other people, particularly with his whānau. Understanding how we are connected through a vast web of whakapapa whānau relationships strengthens our sense of belonging and identity (Rameka, 2018). Kawiti's conceptualisation delves deeper and highlights how hononga within whānau relationships foster a sense of belonging, meaning, and purpose. It is these intangible feelings that help to strengthen connectedness within the whānau unit whilst simultaneously shaping one's identity as Māori over time (Matika et al., 2020). Our identities are acquired through the everyday encounters we have with people and with our whānau (Cain et al., 2017, p. 159). Considering that the whānau unit is a crucial source of identity and well-being for rangatahi Māori, it becomes important to tend to and strengthen the union between the individual and their whānau.

Some rangatahi collaborators associated their home with their connection to their whānau and their papakāinga or ancestral lands. The act of returning to connect with their papakāinga

allowed them to immerse themselves in knowledge related to their whakapapa. As Maihi details below:

Maihi: Me and my sister went to Waikare to the family reunion and we were just blown away by just learning about where our whānau comes from and knowing that we're from that wāhi, that area. Just going there and feeling at home and feeling at peace. So, this one really stands out for me. This being my home, being my papakainga, - one of my papakainga. It brings a lot of memories because it was essentially the starting point for me wanting to embrace who I am as Māori coz I was able to link back to where I come from and connect with where my whānau came from so essentially it was the starting point for me.

Here, Maihi acknowledges the rural location related to one of his two inherited whakapapa lines from his parents. For this rangatahi tāne, who lives away from his ancestral lands, being in the presence of his papakāinga fosters a sense of comfort and a feeling of being "at peace". Returning to his rohe to connect with his 'home' is also a powerful motivating force for him to re-engage with his whakapapa. This 'pull' to connect with his papakāinga and to learn more about his whakapapa is not unique to Maihi's journey. In fact, this pull is experienced by many other rangatahi Māori who live away from their rohe, too (Sciascia, 2016). Whakapapa knowledge grounds an individual to the whenua that their tūpuna traversed, giving that individual a sense of belonging and a connection to that place (Rameka, 2018). The significance of place and land within the realm of te ao Māori is best understood when considering the Māori term for both land and placenta is whenua. At birth, the placenta is buried deep in the land, in a place of significance. At death, the body is usually

buried in the land, also in an area of significance, completing a cycle and demonstrating the symbolic and physical connection to the land (Rameka, 2018). So while the urge to return home for rangatahi manifests itself as a 'pull', it could also be understood as an innate connection between the individual and their ancestors calling them home. For Maihi, this pull is fostered by a number of different elements, including living away from his homelands and having learnt about colonisation at University. For rangatahi who may not be aware of or have knowledge of their whakapapa, this pull can often be facilitated through the learning of the historical and contemporary consequences of colonisation (Sciascia, 2016).

When people live away from the place they call home, they may develop a renewed sense of what home entails and an appreciation of how their current place of dwelling differs from ideas of what and where they consider home to be (Cain et al., 2017, p. 148). For many individuals raised outside of their iwi regions, returning home is not solely about returning to a physical place but the relationship with that environment and the connection the individual associates with it (Ngata-Turley, 2002). Therefore, returning home to their papakāinga to learn more about their whakapapa and whānau can help the individual find a deeper connection with their Māori identity (Te Huia, 2015). For Maihi, a solid connection to 'home' is demonstrated through the physical connection with place and the deeper acquisition of knowledge about the place he and his family come from. This provides the foundation and "starting point" for this tāne to embrace who he is as Māori.

While Maihi's korero highlights a myriad of factors that coalesce to provide a foundation of support for rangatahi who live away from their papakainga, it also brings to light some of the barriers that can hinder and prevent rangatahi Māori from returning to and

connecting with their home. Given the historical context of colonialism and urbanisation in New Zealand, there are intergenerational repercussions that have resulted in Maori living away from their papakāinga or ancestral lands (Te Huia, 2015). Like Maihi's situation, this is the reality for many rangatahi Māori (Borell, 2005). There are often feelings of whakamā (shy, embarrassed, ashamed) carried by 'urban' Māori who return home to experiences of being Māori that vastly differ from their own (Te Huia, 2015). Despite whakapapa being the sole marker to be able to claim a Māori identity, Māori who have been raised in te ao Pākehā can often feel whakamā with their lack of knowledge of their whakapapa, mātauranga Māori or even te reo Māori (Rameka, 2018). This can result in hesitancy and feelings of inadequacy associated with making claims to a Māori identity (Te Huia, 2015). Our individual perceptions of how 'Māori' we feel can act as a mental barrier that impacts our sense of belonging and acceptance by others as Māori (Webber & Kukutai, 2017). Those individuals who hold secure bonds within their whakapapa relationships are more likely to enjoy the sense of belonging that these relationships provide (Te Huia, 2015). It then becomes increasingly important to find ways of disrupting these mental barriers that many young Māori can be subjected to.

For other rangatahi collaborators, 'home' was conceptualised in relation to a physical place and connections with geographical locations. For Aotea, 'home' was not necessarily one place, one geographical area or one idea. Instead, home encompassed multiple different facets which intertwine to provide a broader understanding of home. As Aotea describes below:

Aotea: "This is me on the ferry going back to my safe haven (Rural Motu, . Yeah, this is always my favourite feeling, knowing that I'm going home. Yeah, I'm always happy when I'm

on the boat, - no matter how rough it is, I'm going home...This is on the island. This is my safe haven. As you can tell the home is right there next to the sea and the marae is just up here which is just out of the photo. I love this place its like a old, old house but I love it. I love it. It's not the flashest places but I dunno, I just feel happy and a sense of want where you can just feel the love. The love is so present"

For this rangatahi wāhine, the act of returning to her home where there is happiness and love present is described as her favourite feeling. Within Aotea's kōrero, home is perceived at various levels. Home is the island or the motu, which Aotea travels to by ferry. Home is the sea that surrounds the island. Home is the marae which sits on the hill and overlooks the sea. Home is the old house Aotea describes as "not the flashest" but a place where "love is so present". For this rangatahi wāhine, the act of returning to her home reconnects her with elements of the whenua, such as the moana, alongside aspects of relationality, such as her marae and a physical house. What emerges from Aotea's kōrero is that the concept of home is broad and encompassing and occurs within multiple spaces where home is much more than just a physical dwelling (Boulton et al., 2021).

In an age where the majority of young Māori people live in urban areas, some distance from their homelands, it is imperative to note that many rangatahi cannot physically connect with their tribal communities and homelands on a day-to-day basis (Kidman, 2016). While returning home can provide a breath of fresh air and spiritual nourishment for rangatahi Māori, one must also consider the physical distance, time and financial burden that limits many Māori from returning home as often as they would like to (Sciascia, 2016). Living in the city away from home can present a time of complexity and great difficulty for rangatahi Māori, who often

encounter experiences of racism and cultural discrimination in their daily lives (Borell, 2005; Kidman, 2016). Rangatahi Māori are often required to negotiate radically contrasting cultural assumptions, behaviours and values that differ from the taken-for-granted aspects of Māori culture we experience at home (Rameka, 2018). Not only can this be incredibly taxing to the hauora and well-being of rangatahi Maori, but more specifically, it can impact the individual's ability to embrace and proudly claim their Māori identity (Te Huia, 2015). Therefore, when Aotea speaks passionately of the love and happiness she is immersed in when she returns home, we understand that her "safe haven" offers her protection and refuge from the concrete jungle of Auckland city. Here, the significance of having a broad understanding of home, like Aotea's, that encompasses the island, the sea, the marae, and a physical dwelling becomes salient. Aotea's connection to each of these places she calls home is important because it provides her with multiple avenues of support to draw from in times of difficulty and need. Although there are plenty of opportunities for Māori living in the city to connect with Māori culture (Boulton, Allport, Kaiwai, Potaka Osborne, et al., 2021) and a variety of opportunities for Māori to connect with their home through social media and virtual avenues (Sciascia, 2016), these methods of connection to culture do not compare with physically being on the land, connecting with the whenua or physically experiencing the familiar scents of home.

Encompassed within Aotea's conceptualisation of home is her marae. In te ao Māori, the marae is one of many focal points of Māori culture, and it is a place of belonging that enables Māori to feel connected to their home, their Māoritanga, their ancestors and their identity (Sciascia, 2016). By this understanding, being at home on the marae then fosters a physical, emotional and spiritual connection. Through the marae space, the expression of Māori values, tikanga and te reo Māori is also preserved (Boulton, Allport, Kaiwai, Potaka Osborne, et al.,

2021). Marae can then be understood as sites of cultural revival for Māori where one can resist colonial domination of Māori ways of being (King et al., 2015).

Theme Summary: Weaving together the threads

In weaving together the threads of this theme, it becomes clear that constructions of home for our rangatahi collaborators were centred around whanaungatanga experiences with people and places. Rangatahi collaborator's conceptualisations of the home were multifaceted and encompassing. Within Kawiti's korero, there is an emphasis on whanau and acts of whanaungatanga as being central to the idea of home. The concept of home then becomes intimately associated with the people in our lives and the encounters that we share in their presence. For Maihi, the notion of home focused on the centrality of the papakāinga. To be able to return to your papakāinga and walk the same whenua that your tūpuna once traversed is a comforting experience. But, to simultaneously be able to learn your whakapapa and family history in the presence of your whānau while being present on this land is a beautiful learning experience. There is value in knowing that ideas of home produce a sense of belonging so warm and full of love. In sharing korero with Aotea, the concept of home was an amalgamation of geographical locations and features of the land that held significance to her. Aotea's recollection of home paying homage to the moana, an old home, and her marae. Each of these elements contributes to fond memories that she associates with the notion of home - adding a nostalgic aspect to how the home is perceived. When each of our rangatahi collaborator's korero is taken as a whole, there is clearly no single definition of home. However, what is present, is the multiple aspects of home which centre on our connections to people and to places. The idea of having multiple 'homes' that are inclusive of our experiences shared with our whānau and our

experiences shared in specific places is significant because it provides multiple avenues of connecting and relating, as well as multiple forms of support to draw on in times of need. Within these contexts, there is potential for strong, positive Māori identities to develop in safe spaces. Home is the place, home is the people.

Navigating Te Ao Pākehā: Being Māori in a Pākehā World

Traversing te ao Māori and te ao Pākehā is both a complex and beautiful experience for rangatahi Māori (Rameka, 2018). Whether we walk confidently between both worlds or have our feet firmly planted on either side, the journey often requires us to unravel the many delicate layers of our identity throughout the process. This section explores how our rangatahi collaborators navigate being Māori in a Pākehā world. Here, rangatahi experiences of struggle intertwine with narratives of strength, resilience, and power. Immersed within the threads of kōrero, our rangatahi collaborators share how they continue to hold steadfast to Māori culture, traditions and tikanga in environments founded on colonial values.

City landscapes and urban environments offer a strikingly different surrounding to the rural lands that many Māori call home. As previously mentioned, a consequence of urbanisation was that Māori migrated rapidly from their rural homelands to major cities in search of what they were led to believe were better economic and educational opportunities for themselves and their whānau (Gagné, 2013; Meredith, 2015; Royal, 2005; Walker, 1990). Despite a more significant number of Māori now living in urban environments, many Māori generally considered the city to be a colonised place that did not look or, more importantly, feel like the homelands that Māori had left (Gagné, 2013). Māori were forced to assimilate into te ao Pākehā as Pākehā ways of living and being were regarded as the norm (Brown, 2011). The migration of Māori toward the

cities physically and spiritually separated people from their whenua, te reo Māori and Māori ways of living and being (Barnes & McCreanor, 2019). Within these urban contexts, experiences of racism were rampant, and Māori were given little to no space to exist as their authentic selves, reconstructing Māori identities in the process (Cormack et al., 2019). With no real connection to the whenua they were on, the city began to be associated with being a place where Māori did not belong and felt othered (Boulton et al., 2021; Gagné, 2013). Thus, these factors play an interconnecting role in why many Māori may feel unwelcome or as if they have no place within city environments (Gagné, 2013).

Generally speaking, our rangatahi Māori collaborators predominantly associated urban contexts with negative experiences. 'Home' environments, as detailed in the previous section, encompassed a sense of safety and belonging that allowed rangatahi to feel supported in their daily lives. In contrast to this, city and urban environments produced feelings of intense dislike and unhappiness within rangatahi. Some of the reasons cited by rangatahi for these feelings were that it meant coming back to features of the city that were not as common in their hometowns. For example, this included the noise associated with the heavy traffic, the bright lights throughout the city, and the constant presence of police officers. Returning to Auckland meant leaving the places rangatahi call home to come "back to reality". Another general feature within the kōrero of rangatahi, when speaking of living in the city, is the sacrifices that Māori often make to live in major cities away from their homes. For example, one rangatahi described living in Auckland city as a "good opportunity", but this came at the expense of her own happiness and her ability to "reach my (her) full potential". While some rangatahi "struggled" with life in the city, this did not prevent them from trying to make a 'home' for themselves in te ao Pākehā.

Connecting with the Whenua of the New Area

Throughout this thesis, I have continued to emphasise that connection to the whenua is a constant within our rangatahi collaborator's stories and in te ao Māori environments. The importance of the whenua and te taiao did not change when rangatahi spoke of their lives in the cities or in te ao Pākehā. The relationship and hononga between the individual and te taiao became a protective factor for our rangatahi collaborators. It allowed them to develop a relationship with the new city environment that they were in. Whether this connection was established through physical exploration of te taiao or just by viewing some form of te taiao, this enabled rangatahi to protect and nourish their hauora and well-being, allowing them to navigate te ao Pākehā more comfortably. For this rangatahi tāne, the contrast between the industrial city landscape and the distant views of te taiao provides an analogy for his journey of navigating te ao Pākehā. As Maihi details below:

Maihi: I felt like real tau with this picture when I saw it, when I saw the view, I was struggling with living in Auckland but seeing this kind of brought a bit of peace even though it's very industrial, there was some sense of peace that I had with just seeing the beauty of it and that was enough, and being able to see Rangitoto in the background and just kind of surrounding Tāmaki. I was thinking about this but it's like a metaphor. I'm getting through the industrial, getting through the city to eventually get to Rangitoto, to the whenua. It's like my journey that I'm on at the moment and eventually I'll reach my destination, which is on the horizon.

Within this rangatahi tāne's kōrero, the sheer magnificence and power of te taiao are demonstrated. As Maihi mentions, he was "struggling with living in Auckland" at the time, but

just being able to see a view of te taiao and admiring the "beauty of it" was enough to bring "some sense of peace" to his life. Maihi eloquently speaks of the contrast between the city and te taiao, comparing it to his personal journey that he is on in Auckland city. He describes his journey through the "industrial" city and how he will eventually make it to the whenua he can see in the distance. Here, the industrial city is representative of te ao Pākehā, while te taiao and more specifically, Rangitoto in the distance, is representative of te ao Māori. For Maihi, being able to see these elements of te taiao in the distance provides a guiding light and certainty for this rangatahi tāne. Knowing that te taiao and te ao Māori are there waiting for him helps Maihi to establish an emotional connection within the confines of te ao Pākehā. Seeing elements of te taiao immersed within the industrial city of Auckland provides a guide for Maihi to look too when he needs comfort and calmness. By this understanding, Maihi's connection to te taiao makes navigating te ao Pākehā more manageable and more comfortable. Despite only being able to see te taiao in the distance, Maihi's korero shows the power of te taiao. While we know that physically being in te taiao fosters well-being for rangatahi Māori (Centre for Indigenous Psychologies, Massey University, 2021), Maihi's kõrero demonstrates that one does not necessarily have to be immersed in it to reap the benefits that it provides. Simply being able to see features and elements of the natural environment, such as mountains, oceans or forests, helps rangatahi Māori to navigate and traverse te ao Pākehā more comfortably as Māori.

For other rangatahi collaborators, the need to be wholly immersed in and surrounded by te taiao and the natural environment was more pressing. Hinewaoriki details below how she traverses te ao Pākehā by physically connecting with nature:

Hinewaoriki: "...even now up in Auckland - I hate Auckland as a city. There's no mountains, and I find it hard, but I go out mountain biking with my friends occasionally just to connect again. I regularly go out because obviously living in the city I've got to connect with it"

For this rangatahi wāhine, adjusting to a city with "no mountains" is a "hard" process for Hinewaoriki to navigate and come to terms with. The lack of geographical features contributes to Hinewaoriki's feeling of "hate" and general unhappiness toward Auckland as a city. When living away from home, it is necessary for the individual not only to find themselves within their new landscape but to immerse themselves within their new surroundings to become familiar again. For Hinewaoriki, this manifested as going mountain biking with her friends to re-establish her sense of connection with te taiao. In engaging with te taiao, Hinewaoriki can maintain her connection with the maunga and the natural world. Retaining a relationship with te taiao and the natural environment is central to Māori ideas of hauora and well-being (Barnes & McCreanor, 2019; McLachlan et al., 2021). By this understanding, Hinewaoriki provides a powerful example of how an urban-based rangatahi Māori can alleviate feelings of dislike toward the city.

From a Māori worldview, an attachment and connection to aspects of the natural environment have always been significant (McCreanor et al., 2006). The connection to te taiao, whether physically or visually, remains central in the make-up of the urban landscape (King et al., 2018). The importance is evidenced by the way that Māori introduce themselves, referencing landmarks and geographical features of their ancestral lands that they whakapapa too (Ministry for the Environment & Stats NZ, 2021). Our identity as Māori is tied to the natural world, which provides one explanation as to why Māori often seek refuge and find comfort and stability within te taiao and the natural elements of the world surrounding them (Hamley & Le Grice,

2021). However, finding a connection with the whenua and its elements becomes challenging when we move away from familiar features to cities devoid of mountains, rivers or forests (Rameka, 2018). Familiarity with these landscapes is hard to come by in te ao Pākehā, especially when natural features are replaced with a high density of large and modern buildings. The threat of being disconnected and dislocated from environments that not only comfort us but also that ground one's sense of identity as Māori can have negative implications on the overall health and well-being of the individual (King et al., 2015). Navigating radically different city terrains can be difficult, however, it is important to note that Māori remain connected to the whenua wherever they are in the world - whether this be in the cities or in rural communities. While the landmarks and features in cities may differ from the natural state in which we find them in our rural communities, the point remains that even the whenua in te ao Pākehā has a story to tell and a history behind it.

Finding whanaungatanga in the City

Throughout their narratives, our rangatahi collaborators frequently spoke of their whānau and their families' significant presence in their lives. However, navigating te ao Pākehā often meant living some distance away from where their whānau were. As an alternative form of support, our rangatahi collaborators sought to establish whānau-like relationships within their new environments. In particular, these non-kin relationships manifested in the form of friendships with other rangatahi Māori and non-Māori living within the confines of urban cities. While navigating te ao Pākehā, finding kinship that resembled the familiar warmth and embrace of our rangatahi collaborator's own families would become one of many coping mechanisms for our rangatahi to store in their personal kete of knowledge. Deep connections and close

associations with friends were woven throughout the korero of our rangatahi collaborators. Our collaborators held their friends in the highest regard, often likening them to being more like whānau or kaupapa whānau, despite not necessarily being related. When speaking of their friends and the bonds that they shared, there was an abundance of love present. Friends were often described as inspirational figures in our rangatahi collaborators' lives and held a great deal of influence in shaping and moulding their identities and lives. These relationships enabled our rangatahi collaborators to feel grounded and, more importantly, helped to make living in urban cities feel more like home. The hustle and bustle of city living became bearable with friends who nurtured a space to flourish and grow. For our collaborators, having access to a network of deep connections and a community within te ao Pākehā meant that there was someone to provide physical guidance and support for our rangatahi whilst traversing the Pākehā world.

Whanaungatanga relationships represented spaces of care and nourishment for rangatahi Māori whilst navigating te ao Pākehā. Within these spaces, reciprocal relationships could occur. As Maihi describes below:

Maihi: Me and Awhina have connected so much and we've built each other up so much this year. We're just so tight and so connected. Yeah, we just love each other to pieces. I don't know what I would've done if she wasn't with me this year coz I could imagine it being very bland and dull and so I'm really glad that I had the opportunity to be with her this year and then Marama over here, one of my other best mates just brings the life into every situation. Her personality is so vibrant and loving and caring like a mother and I'm so.. she legit is like my mother, she always tells me what to do so I really appreciate her though and love her to

pieces. I don't know what I would've done without these two this year coz they've really been my strongholds away from home you know.

In the above passage, Maihi reflects on his haerenga in te ao Pākehā and acknowledges the essential role that his friends have played in helping him to find comfort away from home. Within this rangatahi tāne's kōrero, the adoration and love Maihi has for his friends are everpresent. The unique and intricate connection this tane has built with his friends is reflected in how he describes them as his "strongholds away from home". In his recollection of his friendship with two wāhine, Awhina and Marama, he details qualities and attributes that make these women a place of refuge in the Pākehā world. When this tāne speaks of his relationship with his friend Awhina, he highlights the reciprocal nature embedded in friendships. As Maihi describes, the deeper connection that provides the foundation of their relationship has been established through support that is both given and received without expectation. This reciprocity manifests as being "tight" and "connected" with one another. When Maihi speaks of his relationship with Marama, he reflects on how she "brings life into every situation" with her vibrant energy. For this rangatahi tāne, his friendship with Marama is likened to the nurture and care a mother would show her child. As Maihi details, "her personality is so loving and caring like a mother...she legit is like my mother, she always tells me what to do". In te ao Māori, the love between a mother and their pepe is so significant that the bond is considered a primary relationship (Le Grice et al., 2017). For someone like Maihi, who is living away from home, having friends who exude love and provide nurturing guidance helps create a place of refuge in the Pākehā world.

Like Maihi's experience, finding whanaungatanga friendships enabled our rangatahi to draw on an immediate form of support when they encountered difficulties in te ao Pākehā. As Hinewaoriki explains below:

Hinewaoriki" I've suffered from depression before, quite a lot, and often it has actually been ,my friends that have helped me out which I call my whānau. In the past year I actually just went to counselling because my friend was like 'it might be a good idea', I didn't want to go at first but she came with me and she was wonderful"

Within Hinewaoriki's korero, the importance of being able to share solid friendships with other individuals traversing te ao Pākehā is illustrated. For Hinewaoriki, it was imperative to share these relationships as they gave her a more immediately present pillar of support to help guide her through the difficult times she experienced. As this rangatahi wāhine details in the above passage, it is often her friends that have helped her out of these difficult periods by helping to provide a more accessible and convenient form of comfort and reassurance when her family cannot immediately do so. Like Hinewaoriki's whānau, her friends act as a force of encouragement, pushing her to do things that will benefit her hauora and well-being. For example, Hinewaoriki describes a situation where one friend, in particular, was able to provide support by encouraging Hinewaoriki to seek counselling when she was experiencing a period of depression. Even more importantly, this friend was then able to physically support and tautoko her friend by attending the counselling session with her as a support person. Having someone to attend these sessions alongside Hinewaoriki's was the gentle push Hinewaoriki needed to take control of her hauora and well-being. It is important to emphasise here that this is help she may

not have sought out had her friend not been there to provide that necessary push of encouragement.

For many young people, the idea of attending therapy or counselling is daunting. A complex array of factors can hinder young people from seeking and accessing help for mental health difficulties. Barriers include the financial cost of services, distance from health services, transportation to and from services, and navigating the overwhelming and often confusing health system itself (Martel et al., 2020). Further barriers that prevent young people from seeking help from services may include the lack of comfort with services, not knowing when or how to seek help, the stigma and shame associated with seeking help and a belief that clinicians will have negative, discriminatory or patronising attitudes towards them (Stubbing & Gibson, 2021). These barriers are compounded for rangatahi Māori, who, in addition to the obstacles mentioned above, face the intergenerational impact of colonisation and are attempting to navigate mental health services founded on Western values (Lindsay Latimer et al., 2021). Each of these, or more likely a combination of these barriers, can often intertwine and deter rangatahi Māori from seeking the help they need.

In the above passage, Hinewaoriki describes her reluctance to seek help, stating that she "did not want to go at first" to speak with a counsellor about her difficulties. Despite her initial hesitancy to speak with someone, the interaction between Hinewaoriki and her friend reveals the importance of developing meaningful relationships and deep connections with other rangatahi Māori within te ao Pākehā. Here, Hinewaoriki's friends, whom she refers to as her whānau, play an important advocacy role in her hauora and well-being. When rangatahi reached out for help, close friends were most commonly the ones they turned to for help (Kingi et al., 2017). When

close friends became concerned about the well-being of their friends, more often than not, they would encourage their friends to tell someone else, such as a counsellor, by accompanying them to speak with someone who could assist. For Hinewaoriki, having someone by her side while she traversed a Pākehā health system helped Hinewaoriki to feel empowered to take responsibility for her health and well-being and to break down those barriers rangatahi often encounter when accessing mental health services for young people. Hinewaoriki's whanaungatanga connections have helped her to find belonging and comfort in a foreign healthcare system. Friendship then becomes an obvious vessel for ensuring the survival and safety of rangatahi Māori whilst they navigate te ao Pākehā.

Theme Summary: Weaving together the threads

Navigating te ao Pākehā has not always been easy for rangatahi Māori (Borell, 2005; Brown, 2011; Cormack et al., 2020; Gagné, 2013; King et al., 2018). Despite this, our rangatahi collaborator's have found ways to embrace and centre te ao Māori, whilst navigating te ao Pākehā. Through their kōrero, it was apparent that each of our rangatahi had employed various methods to keep their Māoritanga alive. One of these methods involved making connections with the whenua of the new area that they were living in. As our rangatahi collaborators have demonstrated, the strength of te taiao is truly magnificent. Both being able to see te taiao, and immersing oneself in te taiao had a positive impact on rangatahi Māori. Te taiao was a tool which our rangatahi drew on in this new environment to help them find peace and to combat feelings of dislike for the city - this made navigating the city easier. The second method which our rangatahi drew on, involved finding whanaungatanga in the city. Again, as our rangatahi have displayed, the sheer strength of finding meaningful connections and relationships in new

environments should never be underestimated. When rangatahi Māori navigated te ao Pākehā, the friendships that they had made were places of refuge and safety from the daunting city life. The relationships that they had established with friends, would become immediate sources of support for rangatahi to draw on. This proved to be crucial aspect for our rangatahi collaborators who lived far from their whānau. When rangatahi Māori navigate te ao Pākehā, it is apparent that drawing on tools from te ao Māori such as te taiao and whanaungatanga, helped our rangatahi to move through the city, whilst maintaining aspects of Māoritanga. This is not new knowledge and is consistent with current literature (Centre for Indigenous Psychologies, Massey University, 2021; Rangiwai, 2018). This is a testament to the knowledge and strength of our rangatahi Māori.

Honouring our Past, Fostering our Future: The Pursuit of Tino rangatiratanga

Thus far on this thesis journey, our rangatahi collaborators have shared stories of adversity and struggle. Despite the significant obstacles experienced throughout their lives, they have continued to dream of a future in which Māori are thriving, flourishing and empowered. With these hopes and aspirations for the future of Māoridom, our collaborators are incredibly aware of the significant amount of work that needs to be done to turn these dreams into reality. Here, this theme explores the ways in which our rangatahi collaborators have fought for, and pursued tino rangatiratanga in their daily lives. Rangatahi Māori have immeasurable capability and capacity; this section is a testament to the brilliance of rangatahi and the mahi that they are engaging in to pave the way for succeeding generations of Māori.

The term tino rangatiratanga is often likened to self-determination, sovereignty, independence and autonomy (Lindsay Latimer et al., 2021; Te One & Clifford, 2021). Tino

rangatiratanga lays it's roots in te ao Māori, as such, there is no single term in te ao Pākehā that can encapsulate the entirety of all that the term means. The term can be used to refer to Māori control over all things Māori (Te One & Clifford, 2021), the centrality and prioritising of mātauranga Māori (Lindsay Latimer et al., 2021), and the pathway to healing colonisation's impact on Māori outcomes (Graham, 2021). A fundamental aspect of tino rangatiratanga is the challenging of Eurocentric values and colonial practices which have historically, devastated Māori ways of living, being and existing in the world.

Tino rangatiratanga and Indigenous self-determination can be exercised through multiple diverse avenues (Te One & Clifford, 2021). Our rangatahi collaborators engaged in acts of tino rangatiratanga in different environments, and on a range of scales. For Aotea, the pursuit of tino rangatiratanga involved engaging in hui with other Indigenous peoples:

Aotea: The conference was beautiful. We got to meet some Aboriginals, a lot of First Nations

People, Native Americans, Canadians, South Africans, Māori of course, yeah just everyone

from around the world indigenous and its just beautiful to see the similarities that we go

through and also the trials and tribulations that we all face that are pretty similar as well

Here, this rangatahi wāhine recollects the time she travelled overseas to attend a conference with Indigenous youth from around the world. This was a particularly significant moment in time for Aotea, as the gathering of Indigenous youth at this conference provided an opportunity to engage in kōrero and to whakawhanungatanga with each other. The experience also allowed Aotea to whakamana iwi Māori. In sharing time and space with other Indigenous youth, they were able to find ways of relating and connecting with each other based on their

lived experiences. Aotea describes the beauty in learning about the similarities that the Māori culture shares with other Indigenous cultures. But there is also a sense of understanding in knowing that the trials and tribulations that Indigenous people are similarly subjected to. At first glance, this interaction may seem ordinary and almost mundane. However, when considering that these rangatahi are able to freely discuss knowledge in relation to being Indigenous and that knowledge is passed down through generations, it becomes clear that the sharing and exchanging of Indigenous knowledge is a powerful and bold challenge to Eurocentric practices. Historically, these Eurocentric practices have acted to divide, isolate and conquer Indigenous communities (Walker, 1990). The mere fact that the Indigenous youth from different communities were able to unite as a collective for this conference, is a strong challenge to colonial oppression.

The violent legacy of colonialism has had a profound impact on the health and well-being of the Māori people (Barnes & McCreanor, 2019). New Zealand has a dark history in terms of the suppression of mātauranga Māori (Walker, 1990). Historically, the sharing of Māori knowledge has not always been welcomed, in fact, many of our tūpuna were primarily educated from a te ao Pākehā perspective and subjected to physical punishment at schools for speaking te reo Māori (Calman, 2012). Māori knowledge has been criticised, pathologised and ridiculed through various avenues (Te Huia, 2015). In contemporary times, non-Māori academics have continued to dismiss the value of mātauranga Māori as a 'valid' science and have disregarded the significance that te ao Māori has on well-being (Waitoki, 2022). To be able to freely and openly discuss aspects of Indigenous cultures in a room filled with Indigenous youth, where our concerns are prioritised, and our own forms of knowledge are front and centre, is a powerful pathway to tino rangatiratanga. Spaces like this foster a safe environment in which Indigenous solutions can be dreamt up to decolonise ways of being that have been forced upon us. For

example, Indigenous cultures often look to the Māori culture and the mahi that has been done with te reo Māori revitalisation for solutions of how they can revive their own languages (Cunneen & Tauri, 2017). So, when Aotea describes the beauty of being able to attend an Indigenous conference, there is power in the synergies of Indigenous cultures and beliefs, and there is strength in knowing that mātauranga Māori is being shared and also preserved for future generations. Māori knowledge is critical to ensuring that the Māori culture and practices are protected and maintained (Waitoki, 2022). When our rangatahi Māori speak and engage in our culture today, it is tino rangatiratanga in action.

For some rangatahi collaborators, the pursuit of tino rangatiratanga materialised in a more frontline role. For Maihi, this occurred in spaces of resistance:

Maihi: Just hearing about the Ihumātao protest and what had gone down there I knew that I couldn't... you know, I and so that for me was a really big thing that had happened for me.

Me going out there to protest, to understand te ao Māori, to understand the kaupapa but also to meet, to whakawhanaungatanga, to meet new people as what Māori would do, you know share whakawhanaungatanga and I think it was like a big thing for me"

Within this passage, this rangatahi tāne speaks of his presence at the Ihumātao land occupation and protest. Here, Maihi eloquently describes feeling a sense of urgency to be present on this whenua and to be a part of this collective action. This need to be on the whenua could also be associated with the spiritual and wairua connection that Māori share with the land (Cain et al., 2017). Maihi's words emphasise how pivotal of a moment it was for him to be able to play a role in this resistance. For this rangatahi tāne, multiple aspects of the protest coalesced to make

this moment so special. As he details in his korero, he was able to stand in solidarity with those at Ihumātao to stop the desecration of the land, he was able to learn about te ao Māori and engage in whakawhanaungatanga with other Māori. The process of meeting new people and sharing whanaungatanga with people who share the same values as Maihi would introduce Maihi to people who would eventually become pillars in his life.

The act of showing up and holding space for a cause that actively resists colonial oppression is a powerful form of tino rangatiratanga in action. As Maihi has alluded to within his korero, the Ihumatao environment allowed him to learn more about te ao Maori, in turn, revealing to this young rangatahi more about his identity as a Māori living in an urban environment. To claim a Māori identity is political by nature (Stuart, 2003); some have even said that to wake up in the morning as Māori is a political act in itself (Greaves et al., 2018). Political resistance is embedded in our history as Māori (Greaves et al., 2018). Through collective action, Māori have achieved many successes within the realm of te reo Māori, education, treaty settlements, and political and cultural representation. Historically, these events have contributed to a raised political consciousness among Māori about the injustice and mistreatment that we have suffered at the hands of the colonial oppressor (Stuart, 2003). Greaves et al. (2018) stated that this political resistance throughout history had led political consciousness to be a central element of what it means to identify as Māori today. For Maihi, an urban-based rangatahi tāne, this raised consciousness came through discovering and rediscovering Māori histories and culture through a University paper - a common experience for many tauira Māori in the academy (McIntosh, 2006). So when Maihi heard about the protest that was taking place at Ihumātao, he felt an innate sense within himself to show up, and offer his support for the cause by situating himself on the whenua. Ihumātao is symbolic of the struggle of Māori to have their land returned

to their care and protection, a struggle that continues many years after the signing of Te Tiriti o Waitangi, which guaranteed Māori tino rangatiratanga or the unqualified chieftainship over their lands, villages, and taonga (Wynyard, 2019). For Maihi, it is emblematic of his generation's fight to tautoko and support causes our ancestors fought tirelessly for. Learning about colonisation in the classroom is a vastly different experience from "going out there to protest, to understand te ao Māori, to understand the kaupapa". For Maihi, this was an unforgettable lived experience in which the content he had learned in the classroom would become content that he experienced in real life. Being physically present on the whenua allowed Maihi to engage in whakawhanaungatanga and to create nurturing bonds through kotahitanga with Māori and non-Māori from different walks of life (Hancock & Newton, 2022). Through the kōrero of other people, Maihi was able to learn about the kaupapa at Ihumātao and the hītori of the whenua. This invaluable knowledge provides a deeper, more nuanced understanding that could not necessarily be taught or learnt within the confines of a classroom. The depth of learning that occurs when one is physically at a protest like Ihumātao, soaking up the atmosphere, sharing in whanaungatanga and nourishing the wairua is a part of the beauty of the lived experience. Physically being on the whenua in spaces of resistance and activism helped Maihi to increase his socio-political consciousness and awareness of Māori and Pākehā (Greaves et al., 2018).

For Kawiti, tino rangatiratanga is actioned through the instilling of te reo Māori me ona tikanga into the next generation of rangatahi Māori. As this tāne mentions below:

Kawiti: there's me and a handful of my cousins and friends who speak te reo Māori, who carry our tikanga with us wherever we go, whatever we do and we look around at some of our friends and family and we feel sorry. We feel sorry and we're angry with just basically the

way the world is because.. and this is the impact and this is just one way to try and contribute towards our young men, the moulding of future leaders and towards instilling of our reo and our tikanga Māori and in that sense we're not only honouring our past but our future in the same sense, - we're fostering our future. And that's the perspective I look at it from and yeah that's really probably the thing that drives me the most, in terms of this kaupapa. And because of the kaumatua and kuia I was fortunate of growing up with who spoke te reo. All of them were te reo Māori fluent. All of them were te reo Maori born. Some of them could barely speak Pakehā. I was fortunate to still be around kaumatua like that and that stuck with me, that sticks with me and comes with me wherever I go, i roto i te whatumanawa. I guess that's the kind of "dream". You know everyone has their dream on what they want their life or the life of those around them to be and I guess that's probably a part of mine for my own hapū and iwi, - wider iwi.

Kawiti is fortunate to have been raised in a te ao Māori context, and this is a birthright of which many Māori have been deprived. Because of this, he now carries with him a strong knowledge of tikanga, fluency in te reo Māori and confidence in the realm of te ao Māori. Knowing how fortunate he is to have this knowledge, the realisation has not only ignited but fuelled Kawiti's passion for sharing this knowledge with other rangatahi and tamariki. Within the rural environment that he grew up in, Kawiti details how it was common to hear te reo Māori being spoken by the kaumatua and kuia, whom he was surrounded by. Considering the success of Māori language suppression through the vehicle of colonisation, the transmission of this knowledge from the elders to this rangatahi tāne is a blessing that follows Kawiti wherever he goes. While Kawiti acknowledges that he is lucky to have been raised in this environment, he is also incredibly aware that not all rangatahi Māori have been able to experience this growing up.

For this rangatahi tāne, there is not only value in knowing how to speak te reo Māori but also in the whakaaro contained within te reo Māori. Having firsthand experience of the fruits that te reo Māori bears, it is understandable why Kawiti displays righteous anger for rangatahi Māori who have had this birthright taken away from them and, therefore, have not been able to share the same experience that he has lived. This provides the drive and motivation that Kawiti has toward kaupapa that instils te reo Māori and tikanga Māori into future generations. This tāne's elders have instilled te reo Māori and tikanga Māori into him, and now Kawiti sees it as his duty and his life's work to restore this birthright to impact those around him positively. Ultimately contributing towards young Māori by moulding future leaders and ingraining the same valuable knowledge into succeeding generations.

The devastating impact of colonisation on te reo Māori has been well documented within academia (Calman, 2012; E. Cooper, 2014; Ka'ai-Mahuta, 2011; Walker, 1990), as well as throughout this thesis. One does not have to look too far back in the timeline of New Zealand's history to be confronted with legislation that actively suppressed the Māori language and punished those for speaking the reo (Calman, 2012). The decline of te reo Māori continues to be an issue today, so much so that some consider the Māori language to be an endangered language (L. R. Rameka & Peterson, 2021). For Kawiti, the anger of potentially losing te reo Māori provides a guiding light to instil this knowledge into rangatahi Māori from one generation to the next. The ability to converse in te reo Māori not only allows that individual to rejuvenate the native language of Aotearoa but also provides a means of transmitting Māori customs, values, knowledge and skills (L. R. Rameka & Peterson, 2021). Possessing this knowledge, therefore, becomes central to the development and maintenance of a positive sense of identity, belonging and acceptance in te ao Māori.

Within Kawiti's korero, his intentions to contribute to the betterment of rangatahi, more specifically, young Māori men, is a bold challenge to Eurocentric systems and a powerful act of tino rangatiratanga. It is worth noting that these are the same Eurocentric systems that attempted to disrupt the transmission of Māori culture, forcibly removed te reo Māori from the mouths of its speakers, and perceived Māori culture as being inferior to European ones (L. R. Rameka & Peterson, 2021). As a rangatahi, Kawiti understands the importance of immersing young Māori in this knowledge as early as possible. In a sense, this rangatahi tane is equipping the future of Māoridom with the needed knowledge to navigate who they are and the histories which have contributed to their creation. The knowledge that was shared with him by his kaumatua is now knowledge that he is sharing with other rangatahi Māori - honouring our past and fostering our future. The rejuvenation and preservation of te reo Māori are paramount to Māori health and well-being (Durie, 1994). The language provides a window to the Māori culture and Māori cultural identity. While our ancestors began the fight for te reo Māori many, many years ago, the protection of te reo Māori and the continuation of this knowledge from one generation to the next now lies in the hands of rangatahi Māori.

Kawiti recognises that as a Māori speaking individual, he is a custodian of Māori culture. Even at his young age, this rangatahi is aware of his responsibility to help guide other rangatahi to relearn te reo Māori. While this is a heavy responsibility to carry, it can also come with many rewards, such as the increase in the number of Māori speaking individuals and ensuring the survival of the Māori language. The ability to speak and converse in te reo Māori has long been considered a central aspect of Māori identity (Te Huia, 2015). While the ability to converse in te reo Māori is not a pre-requisite to claim a Māori cultural identity, colonisation has resulted in

Eurocentric ideas that perpetuate the notion that one must be able to speak Māori to be Māori (Borell, 2005; Graham, 2021; Moeke-Pickering, 1996; Te Huia, 2015). Kawiti's work is centred around the idea that because of colonisation, not all Māori have shared the same experience that he had growing up. This acknowledges and highlights that Māori are diverse and not one homogenous population (McIntosh, 2006). The ability to speak and understand te reo Māori is something that enables rangatahi Māori to be able to navigate both te ao Māori and te ao Pākehā with comfort and ease (Te Huia, 2015). By this understanding, te reo Māori deeply embedded within our blood. It is teachers like Kawiti who hold the keys to unlocking a language that is embedded in our DNA as Māori.

One way for the Māori language to survive and for Māori identities to flourish is for Māori-speaking individuals, like Kawiti, to foster environments that are welcoming for non-Māori speakers in Māori environments. However, it is also important for non-Māori speakers to be vulnerable in their pursuit of learning te reo Māori. The acquisition of te reo Māori and knowledge of tikanga, which comes in tandem with the reo, can often intertwine to create a sense of belonging and comfort in Māori environments (Te Huia, 2015). To feel like one belongs in these environments is a key aspect of whether or not one might claim a Māori identity (McIntosh, 2006). Feelings of whakamā and embarrassment at not being able to converse in te reo Māori are also barriers that play a role in whether or not one might choose to claim a Maori identity.

Theme Summary: Weaving together the threads

In engaging in conversations with our rangatahi collaborators, it is apparent that these rangatahi Māori are paving the way for other rangatahi to explore their identity within. These

rangatahi have picked up the wero and are now turning their dreams and aspirations into a reality. Not only is this their hopes for the future of Māoridom, but the manifestation of their ancestor's wildest dreams too. Through their various actions, whether it be engaging in hui with Indigenous young people, the act of protesting, or instilling te reo Māori and tikanga into future generations, our rangatahi are doing magnificent things on a magnificent scale. Each of these rangatahi Māori, in their way, is doing something for iwi Māori. For Aotea, her fierce pursuit of tino rangatiratanga is in the sharing of mātauranga Māori and support for other Indigenous cultures. For Maihi, tino rangatiratanga manifests itself in the form of showing up and holding space in environments of activism and protest. Lastly, for Kawiti, the fight for tino rangatiratanga is in the way he carries te reo Māori me ona tikanga and shares this with the next generation of rangatahi Māori. Fighting for and pursuing tino rangatiratanga in their daily lives is a testament to the brilliance of our rangatahi Māori. If our future is in the hands of rangatahi, then our future looks promising.

Chapter Six: Conclusion

This thesis is a Kaupapa Māori exploration of the interaction between whanaungatanga and identity and how this supports hauora and well-being for rangatahi Māori. In chapter one of this thesis, I delved into an exploration of who rangatahi Māori are. To do so, it was essential that I first provide an overview of the contextual factors that have played a role in creating contemporary Māori identities. This required me to journey through the historical and contemporary impact of colonisation and the role that this has played in conceptualisations of Māori identity at present. Within this final chapter, I aim to tie the threads of this thesis research project together. Here, I provide an overview of the main findings in relation to my research objectives, emphasising the key findings as they relate to the aim of this thesis. Following this, I discuss the strengths and limitations of this research project. This chapter concludes with implications and recommendations for future research involving rangatahi Māori.

Overview of Findings in Relation to the Research Questions

This thesis explored four key research objectives. It aimed to understand how whanaungatanga and identity intertwine to support the hauora and well-being of rangatahi Māori. The following section provides an overview of the main findings in relation to the four key research objectives.

Explore how Rangatahi Māori Support their Hauora and Well-being through Te Ao Māori

One of the pivotal findings revealed within this research is that rangatahi Māori saw significant value in drawing on aspects of te ao Māori to support their hauora and well-being. When times became difficult for our rangatahi Māori, and deep mamae was present within their

lives, utilising aspects of te ao Māori such as their knowledge of tikanga became a powerful tool to help them navigate through their pain. In stepping into the realm of tikanga Māori, some of our rangatahi were able to recite karakia which allowed them to connect to wairua, to their tūpuna, to ngā Atua Māori and to the natural environment. For our rangatahi Māori, it was clearly embedded within their narratives that karakia allowed them to connect with and draw strength from their tūpuna and the Atua. This was of great benefit to the hauora and well-being of rangatahi Māori, especially in relation to the pain associated with whakamomori and the loss of life. Similarly, the data also revealed that for those rangatahi Māori who were not brought up with knowledge of karakia or tikanga Māori, simply talking to the Atua in times of need produced the same support to hauora and well-being as reciting karakia did.

When rangatahi Māori were met with mamae, establishing a connection with te taiao, the natural environment, also provided a way of alleviating the pain in their lives. Being immersed in te taiao, or simply in just seeing te taiao in all of its different forms, proved to be a powerful and effective way of attending to and bolstering rangatahi hauora and well-being. In situating oneself within te taiao, our rangatahi were connected with a place in which they could manage their hauora and well-being. It is again important to emphasise here that irrespective of whether our rangatahi had high levels of knowledge in relation to te ao Māori, establishing a relationship with te taiao simply requires us to be present.

What these findings indicate for rangatahi Māori is that aspects of te ao Māori such as knowledge of tikanga Māori, and establishing and maintaining a relationship with te taiao are crucial to the hauora and well-being of rangatahi. Through rangatahi Māori kōrero, it is evident

that hauora is not solely about the physical well-being of the individual, infact it transcends beyond to incorporate the wairua too. These findings are echoed within a steadily growing literature base which supports the holistic nature of te ao Māori (Carlson et al., 2022; Durie, 1994; McLachlan et al., 2017). Rangatahi experiences of supporting their hauora and well-being through the vehicle of te ao Māori brings to light the endless potential that te ao Māori holds.

Explore how Rangatahi Experience, Express, and Seek out Whanaungatanga in their Daily Lives.

As our rangatahi collaborators have demonstrated, whanaungatanga can be found in the most mundane sites of everyday life. Within this research, discussion of whanaungatanga was interwoven into rangatahi conceptualisations of the home. The data revealed that rangatahi Māori consider whanaungatanga to be a core component of the home - afterall, it is the basic cement that holds things Māori together (Ritchie, 1992). Within rangatahi understandings of home, there was often a nostalgic element in which rangatahi would associate everyday encounters and interactions with their whānau as part of their home. Rangatahi would often seek out these connections in their daily lives as they were a crucial source of belonging, well-being and facilitate an environment in which they could express their identity as Māori. Returning to the people and the places that rangatahi call home, often provided the opportunity to engage in whanaungatanga and deeper connections. For some, whanaungatanga looked like attending a family reunion or being in a learning environment with whānau engaging in whakapapa. These small acts of whanaungatanga echoing the sentiment that whanaungatanga and the process of whakawhanaungatanga can be found in the simplest of interactions.

Discussion of whanaungatanga and whakawhanaungatanga also trickled into other aspects of rangatahi everyday lives. For example, rangatahi also expressed whanaungatanga in the space of protest and activism. Rangatahi discussed the significance of being able to meet other like-minded people who had united for a common cause, and to engage in whakawhanaungatanga with them. Being able to meet new people and share knowledge of te ao Māori in these special moments together would become a pathway to lifelong friendships for some of our rangatahi. Whanaungatanga then became a vehicle for the exchanging of knowledge of te ao Māori and the continuation of Māori cultural values. It is clear that whanaungatanga is multi-layered and can be expressed in many different ways, some obvious and some unexpected. It is important to not overlook the simple practices mentioned above, that occur within everyday encounters, experiences and activities.

Explore how rangatahi Māori enact identity in urban environments when living away from their home.

For rangatahi Māori dwelling in urban environments and living away from home, identity was expressed in a multitude of ways. One way in particular that featured prominently within rangatahi kōrero was the establishing of a connection with the whenua of the new area that rangatahi were dwelling in. Rangatahi emphasised the salience of the whenua and more broadly te taiao, in relation to their hauora and well-being noting that it brought them a sense of peace and comfort in foreign environments. But in connecting and reconnecting to te taiao and the whenua of a new environment, it allowed rangatahi to feel a sense of comfort in being able to express their identity as Māori and draw on this relationship to maintain their well-being. Immersing themselves in the natural elements not only fostered well-being but also carved an

environment in which rangatahi felt safe enough to express themselves as Māori within te ao Pākehā. Connecting with the whenua of a new area then became an enabling environment to be able to express one's identity positively as Māori.

The enactment of identity in urban settings was also fostered by finding whanaungatanga relationships within the city and within te ao Pākehā. Whanaungatanga relationships revealed themselves to be spaces of care and nourishment. From within these relationships, rangatahi Māori were wrapped in a blanket of love, offering them a safety net from the stressors that accompany city living. Here, this sense of protection and refuge paved the way for rangatahi to explore their identity. The safer the individual feels, the more they will be able to thrive as Māori. Thus, whanaungatanga relationships were thought to be central in helping our rangatahi to express their identity as Māori. These experiences of identity expression were not always clearly visible, in fact, they often required rangatahi Māori to unravel multiple layers of their identity.

In both of these examples, it is clear that feeling a sense of belonging and safety in the environment that rangatahi were in, provided the optimal environment for rangatahi to safely lean into their identities and to figure out what a Māori identity entails. It then becomes increasingly obvious that fostering these spaces of safety and belonging are important for our rangatahi Māori (L. Rameka, 2018).

Explore the Ways that Rangatahi Māori are Safeguarding Tuakiri Māori and Mātauranga for the Future of Māoridom.

Of great significance to all of our rangatahi Māori is the safeguarding of tuakiri Māori and mātauranga Māori for the future of Māoridom. Rangatahi saw high value in focusing on and prioritising Māoridom to ensure the preservation and continuation of Māori knowledge and Māori identity for the future generations. The data revealed that each of our rangatahi Māori were engaging in acts of tino rangatiratanga to protect both a Māori identity and mātauranga Māori. Whether acts of tino rangatiratanga were carried out on a smaller scale or a larger scale, there is much to consider here in relation to how these acts contribute to the continuation of iwi Māori.

Rangatahi Māori devoted themselves to various acts of tino rangatiratanga, for example, some rangatahi engaged in hui with other Indigenous youth to discuss and exchange various ideas and forms of knowledge that prioritise Indigenous well-being. Ensuring that our knowledge lives on and in return, harnessing support from other Indigenous people from around the world. Other rangatahi Māori dedicated themselves to instilling te reo Māori and tikanga into the next generation of rangatahi Māori. In doing so, preserving and maintaining our language and our customs for the succeeding generations of rangatahi. For other rangatahi, tino rangatiratanga and the protection of our Māori identities and the safeguarding of mātauranga Māori involved the act of protesting. Showing up and physically holding space for a cause that protects the core of te ao Māori is a tough act of protest, not only for the current generation of Māori, but also for the rangatahi who follow in our footsteps. For all of our rangatahi, acts of tino rangatiratanga existed on varying levels of grandness. But perhaps the most salient act of tino rangatiratanga for each of our rangatahi, was to proudly claim a Māori identity. Being Māori was a superpower for our rangatahi, a strength that they could draw on to support their own hauora and well-being. Young people play a crucial role in the revitalisation and the resurrection of our language, the

perpetuation of our tikanga, and the preservation of our mātauranga Māori. Higgins (2021) likens this journey of cultural preservation to that of a relay race where we carry the baton and hand it on to the next generation. Through their actions, rangatahi are sharing the passion and value for their identity as Māori and mātauranga Māori. In handing on the baton in the relay race, it is important that the same passion is passed on to the next generation, to ensure that the relay carries on well into the future.

Strengths and Limitations of the Research

Prioritising Rangatahi Māori

The greatest strength of this research was engaging with the rich and enlightening korero shared by rangatahi Māori. To understand the needs of Māori in contemporary times, it is essential to prioritise and whakamana the lived experiences, ideas and perceptions of rangatahi Māori (Pihama, 2001). In doing so, I centre rangatahi experiences of being and existing whilst simultaneously validating them as kaitiaki of solutions to concerns that directly contribute to their hauora and well-being. The perspectives of rangatahi Māori have been prioritised throughout the entirety of this research, and their narratives have provided a guiding light for the direction of this thesis. By rangatahi Māori, for rangatahi Māori and with rangatahi Māori throughout its entirety. When we prioritise rangatahi Māori, we show them that we value their perspectives and experiences – rangatahi are bearers of knowledge that have a lot to teach us as researchers.

Contributing to the Existing Database of Mātauranga Māori

Ahakoa he iti, he pounamu

Although it is small, it is a treasure

As emphasised throughout this thesis, what it means to claim a Māori identity in the 21st century is constantly changing and developing with time. Māori identities are diverse and are in a constant state of being constructed and reconstructed (McIntosh, 2006). As with a Māori identity, mātauranga Māori is also a constantly evolving knowledge system (Royal, 2012). As such, it is important to tell the stories of our rangatahi Māori and share the wealth of knowledge that they bring. Referring back to the title of this thesis, it is important to honour our past and foster our futures. Following in the footsteps of our ancestors, our tūpuna built on the collective wisdom of their tūpuna, and just like them, our rangatahi collaborators are growing this collective knowledge base of mātauranga Māori. Attending to the whakatauki at the beginning of this section, this thesis is small, but it is a treasure. Whether the contribution is something big, or something small like this thesis, it all contributes to the continuation of mātauranga Māori and the betterment of iwi Māori. This thesis, is a contribution to the continuation of our culture.

Small Sample Size

This research utilised a sample size of four rangatahi Māori, each coming from diverse backgrounds and at different stages of their identity journey. Within qualitative research, a smaller sample size has allowed for a deeper and more nuanced understanding of rangatahi Māori experiences. While some may consider this small sample size a potential research limitation, a smaller sample size is appropriate in this context as it enables the harnessing of

higher information power and more in-depth analysis and exploration of knowledge pertaining to the identities of rangatahi. While our rangatahi Māori possessed multiple and broad experiences of identity, these experiences may not represent the entirety of rangatahi Māori. Despite this, as I have emphasised throughout this thesis, contemporary Māori identities for rangatahi Māori are constantly in a state of flux (McIntosh, 2006). Thus, what it means to claim a Māori identity is changing and evolving.

Future Research

While this research has focused on identity and whanaungatanga in relation to rangatahi Māori, there are several directions in which future research could be extended to cover. This research centred on four rangatahi Māori between the ages of 17 and 22, however, future research should consider that this is toward the upper limits of what is generally agreed upon as rangatahi status. Within this research I looked at older aged rangatahi Māori, one might contemplate whether these findings would differ for rangatahi who are situated toward the younger end of the age range. What can insights gained from younger rangatahi Māori tell us about how young people enact identity and express whanaungatanga? Would younger rangatahi express and enact their Māori identity in different ways? This is one potential direction in which future research could extend to.

Implications for Future Research

Acknowledge the Diversity of Rangatahi Māori

For anyone who works with young people and rangatahi Māori, it is essential to acknowledge the diversity that exists amongst rangatahi Māori. As has been found in completing

this thesis, rangatahi Māori are incredibly diverse in their experiences and identities. To be able to interact and influence rangatahi Māori, we as researchers must understand what it means to be a rangatahi Māori in the 21st century (Tipene-Clarke, 2005). First and foremost, this begins with acknowledging that rangatahi Māori are unique and therefore have their unique contributions to make. The tremendous diversity that exists within rangatahi Māori is a powerful tool to utilise. When done correctly and respectfully, it can offer insight into how we can effectively support the needs and aspirations of rangatahi. In acknowledging their diversity, it is also important to recognise rangatahi in the context of their whānau, hapū and iwi. Future research and practice should consider this diversity in their mahi.

By Rangatahi Māori, For Rangatahi Māori

As I have continued to detail throughout this thesis, rangatahi Māori are kaitiaki and innovators of mātauranga Māori. Because of their young age, rangatahi Māori are often not given enough credit for the wealth of knowledge and creativity that they possess (Tipene-Clarke, 2005). In Kaupapa Māori research, when research is "by rangatahi Māori, for rangatahi Māori," we whakamana and uplift the belief that rangatahi Māori are capable of making their own decisions too. Rangatahi Māori offer a fresh perspective and contemporary take on solutions to problems that directly concern their hauora and well-being. There is endless possibility when we take a step back and ask ourselves what we can learn from our rangatahi. Therefore, the future production of resources for rangatahi Māori hauora and well-being should be heavily based on insights synthesised from rangatahi kōrero. This is to ensure that resources produced reflect the contemporary mātauranga and that the resources produced are relevant to rangatahi Māori - by rangatahi Māori, for rangatahi Māori (Fleming, 2011). Potential resources could include

workshops where rangatahi Māori are encouraged to engage in whanaungatanga with other Māori. This workshop could also be located in a marae setting to foster and encourage the connection to whakapapa and, therefore, instil the urge to learn more about their identity as Māori. In the development of resources for rangatahi Māori, it is also essential to develop resources for whānau members of rangatahi, and for those who work with rangatahi Māori and young people too (Schwencke et al., 2021). Today, they are rangatahi Māori, and tomorrow, they will be our leaders. It is time for rangatahi to take hold of the reins, with the guidance and support from kaumatua and kuia.

Know our Roles and Responsibilities as a Researcher

In working with rangatahi Māori; there are roles and responsibilities that researchers must consider before taking up the wero. For example, consider the analogy of a pōwhiri on the marae. In a marae setting, there are different roles and responsibilities that each individual has. The kaikaranga, or the caller, welcomes visitors onto the marae. Some give whaikōrero on the marae. Others play the role of the ringawera, who prepare the food in the kitchen for visitors. Everyone has their role when it comes to the marae, and everyone has a purpose that contributes to the success of the pōwhiri. Not one of these roles is more important than the other, but they all contribute to the continuation of Māori culture. Like individuals' roles in pōwhiri on the marae, as researchers, we have a role to play when engaging with rangatahi Māori. As a researcher working with the knowledge and experiences shared by rangatahi Māori, it is the role of the researcher to tell their stories in mana-enhancing ways that whakamana our rangatahi Māori. To do so, it is the researcher's responsibility to engage in whakawhanaungatanga with rangatahi Māori and develop relationships with them (Tipene-Clarke, 2005). In doing so, there is great

potential to foster and create a space where young people feel comfortable to offer their insights and share their experiences with us. When we do research with rangatahi Māori, rather than doing research on them, we are met with different perspectives that we as adults may not perceive in the same way (Carlson et al., 2022; Fleming, 2011). Working in partnership with young people, therefore, challenges us to rethink the research process and question how our mahi will contribute to the betterment of rangatahi and meaningful change for iwi Māori. Lastly, as a researcher working in the realm of hauora and well-being, it is our role to remind them how grateful we are to be able to bring their knowledge into the academic sphere - this is integral to support their well-being.

Final Word

This thesis has provided an in-depth, Kaupapa Māori exploration of the interaction between whanaungatanga and identity, and how this supports hauora and well-being for rangatahi Māori. This study has weaved together the threads of whanaungatanga and identity, detailing the importance of this relationship to the hauora and well-being of rangatahi Māori. As this thesis journey comes to an end, I refer back to the whakatauki from the beginning of this thesis. *E kore au e ngaro, he kākano I ruia mai I Rangiātea, I will never be lost, for I am a seed sown in Rangiātea*. In reminding our rangatahi Māori of their potential, of their identity as Māori, of the values embedded in te ao Māori, we are nourishing the soil in which they are in and fostering their future growth. As our rangatahi Māori navigate this world and continue to grow, we must listen to them and understand that they are kaitiaki and custodians of our culture. If the future of Māoridom lies in the hands of our rangatahi Māori, our future is in safe hands. Attending to the title of this thesis, in honouring our past, we are fostering our futures. So while

this thesis has come to an end, it is important to remember, the journey of potential for our rangatahi Māori is only just beginning and is in good hands.

References

- Adds, P. (2017, February 8). *The New Zealand Settlements Act of 1863*. Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. Retrieved April 22, 2022, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/document/3893/the-new-zealand-settlements-act-of-1863
- Barnes, H. M., & McCreanor, T. (2019). Colonisation, hauora and whenua in Aotearoa. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand*, 49, 19–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/03036758
- Bishop, R., Ladwig, J., & Berryman, M. (2014). The Centrality of Relationships for Pedagogy:

 The Whanaungatanga Thesis. *American Educational Research Journal*, *51*(1), 184–214.

 https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831213510019
- Boast, R. (2015, November 24). *Loss of Māori land*. Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. Retrieved April 26, 2022, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/map/19476/loss-of-maori-land
- Borell, B. (2005). Living in the city ain't so bad: Cultural identity for young Maori in South

 Auckland. In J. Liu, T. McCreanor, T. McIntosh, & T. Teaiwa (Eds.), *New Zealand Identities: Departures and Destinations* (1st ed., pp. 191–206). Victoria University Press.
- Boulton, A., Allport, T., Kaiwai, H., Harker, R., & Potaka Osborne, G. (2021). Māori perceptions of 'home': Māori housing needs, wellbeing and policy. *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, *17*(1), 44–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/1177083x.2021.1920984
- Boulton, A., Allport, T., Kaiwai, H., Potaka Osborne, G., & Harker, R. (2021). E hoki mai nei ki te ūkaipō—Return to Your Place of Spiritual and Physical Nourishment. *Genealogy*, *5*(2), 45. https://doi.org/10.3390/genealogy5020045
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful Qualitative Research: A Practical Guide for Beginners (1st ed.). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2017). Thematic Analysis. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 12(3), 297–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2016.1262613
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2019). Reflecting on reflexive thematic analysis. *Qualitative Research* in Sport, Exercise and Health, 11(4), 589–597. https://doi.org/10.1080/2159676x.2019.1628806
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). Thematic Analysis. In E. Lyons & A. Coyle (Eds.), *Analysing qualitative data in psychology* (Third, pp. 128–147). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2022). Conceptual and design thinking for thematic analysis.

 *Qualitative Psychology, 9(1), 3–26. https://doi.org/10.1037/qup0000196
- Brown, M. (2011). DECOLONISING PĀKEHĀ WAYS OF BEING: Revealing third space

 Pākehā experiences [Doctoral thesis]. University of Waikato.
- Burr, V. (2015). Social Constructionism. *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences*, 22, 222–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-097086-8.24049-x
- Bycroft, C., Reid, G., McNally, J., & Gleisner, F. (2016). Identifying Māori populations using administrative data: A comparison with the census. In *Statistics New Zealand*. Statistics New Zealand. Retrieved November 10, 2022, from https://www.stats.govt.nz/assets/Research/Identifying-Maori-populations-using-administrative-data-A-comparison-with-the-census/Identifying-Maori-populations-using-administrative-data-a-comparison-with-the-census.pdf
- Cain, T., Kahu, E., & Shaw, R. (2017). *Turangawaewae: Identity and belonging in Aotearoa*New Zealand (Unabridged). Massey University Press.

- Calman, R. (2012, June 20). *The native schools system, 1867 to 1969*. Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. Retrieved January 15, 2023, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/maorieducation-matauranga/page-3
- Carlson, T. A. L., Mullholland, J. R., Jensen-Lesatele, V., Calder-Dawe, O., & Squire, D. A. (2022). 'HĀPAI TE HAUORA' 'IT'S LIKE BREATHING YOUR ANCESTORS INTO LIFE.'. Sites: A Journal of Social Anthropology and Cultural Studies, 19(1), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.11157/sites-id513
- Centre for Indigenous Psychologies, Massey University. (2021, July 22). *Te Taiao & Being Māori*. ArcGIS StoryMaps. Retrieved January 19, 2023, from https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/cc85b4c6aed64d3c9291f0d0d45227ca
- Cooper, E. (2014). Tōku reo, tōku ngākau: Learning the language of the heart. *New Zealand Psychological Society*, 4(2), 97–103.
- Cooper, G. (2017). Gods and Kaupapa Māori Research. In T. K. Hoskins & A. Jones (Eds.), Critical Conversations in Kaupapa Maori (pp. 117–125). Huia Publishers.
- Cormack, D. (2007). The Māori Population. In *Hauora: Māori Standards of Health IV* (pp. 11–18). Te Rōpū Rangahau Hauora a Eru Pōmare.

 http://www.waikatodhb.govt.nz/assets/Docs/Learning-andResearch/Research/c469e8cda1/Hauora-Maori-standards-of-Health-IV.pdf
- Cormack, D., Harris, R., & Stanley, J. (2020). Māori experiences of multiple forms of discrimination: findings from *Te Kupenga 2013*. *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, *15*(1), 106–122. https://doi.org/10.1080/1177083x.2019.1657472
- Cunneen, C., & Tauri, J. (2017). *Indigenous Criminology*. Policy Press.

- Douglas, J. (2022). Building Whanaungatanga Online. *Advances in Social Work Welfare and Education: Social Work in a Climate of Change*, 23(2), 106–113. https://search.informit.org/doi/pdf/10.3316/informit.571206699327697
- Durie, M. (1994). Whaiora: Māori health development. Oxford University Press.
- Durie, M. (1995). TE HOE NUKU ROA FRAMEWORK A MAORI IDENTITY MEASURE.

 The Journal of the Polynesian Society, 104(4), 461–470.

 https://www.jstor.org/stable/20706636
- Durie, M. (1997). Maori Cultural Identity and Its Implications for Mental Health Services.

 International Journal of Mental Health, 26(3), 23–25.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00207411.1997.11449407
- Edwards, A. J. (2019). Blood Quantum: "A Pūrākau approach to understanding the impact of 'Blood Quantum' in Māori Identity" [Doctoral thesis]. University of Waikato.
- Fleming, J. F. (2011). Young People's Involvement in Research: Still a Long Way to Go?

 Qualitative Social Work, 10(2), 207–223. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325010364276
- Gagné, N. (2013). Māori Lives in Auckland. In M. Lambek (Ed.), *Being Māori in the City: Indigenous Everyday Life in Auckland* (pp. 48–86). University of Toronto Press.
- Gallagher, T. (2008). Tikanga Māori Pre-1840. *Te Kāhui Kura Māori*, 0(1). https://nzetc.victoria.ac.nz/tm/scholarly/metadata-tei-Bid001Kahu.html
- Graham, S. G. (2021). THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MĀORI CULTURAL IDENTITY LOSS & RANGATAHI MĀORI SUICIDE [Master's Thesis]. The University of Waikato.
- Greaves, L. M. (2014). *MĀORI IDENTITY SIGNATURES: A LATENT PROFILE ANALYSIS OF THE TYPES OF MĀORI IDENTITY* [Masters thesis]. University of Auckland.

- Greaves, L. M., Le Grice, J., Schwencke, A., Crengle, S., Lewycka, S., Hamley, L., & Clark, T. C. (2021). MEASURING WHANAUNGATANGA AND IDENTITY FOR WELL-BEING IN RANGATAHI MĀORI: Creating a scale using the Youth19 Rangatahi Smart Survey. *MAI Journal*, *10*(2), 93–105. https://doi.org/10.20507/MAIJournal.2021.10.2.3
- Greaves, L. M., Sengupta, N. K., Townrow, C. S., Osborne, D., Houkamau, C. A., & Sibley, C. G. (2018). Māori, a Politicized Identity: Indigenous Identity, Voter Turnout, Protest, and Political Party Support in Aotearoa New Zealand. *International Perspectives in Psychology*, 7(3), 155–173. https://doi.org/10.1037/ipp0000089
- Hamley, L., Groot, S., Le Grice, J., Gillon, A., Greaves, L., Manchi, M., & Clark, T. (2021).
 "You're the One That Was on Uncle's Wall!": Identity, Whanaungatanga and Connection for Takatāpui (LGBTQ+ Māori). *Genealogy*, 5(54).
 https://doi.org/10.3390/genealogy5020054
- Hamley, L., & Le Grice, J. (2021). He kākano ahau identity, Indigeneity and wellbeing for young Maori (Indigenous) men in Aotearoa/New Zealand. *Feminism & Psychology*, 31(1), 62–80. https://doi.org/10.1177/0959353520973568
- Hamley, L., Le Grice, J., Greaves, L., Groot, S., Lindsay Latimer, C., Renfrew, L., Parkinson,
 H., Gillon, A., & Clark, T. (2022). Te Tapatoru: a model of whanaungatanga to support rangatahi wellbeing. *Kōtuitui: NewZealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, 1–23.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/1177083X.2022.2109492
- Hancock, F., & Newton, P. (2022). Becoming whānau: Māori and Pākehā working together on the Indigenous-led campaign, #ProtectIhumātao. Ethnicities, 22(5), 642–662. https://doi.org/10.1177/14687968211062655

- Hayward, J. (2012, June 20). Biculturalism From bicultural to monocultural, and back. Te Ara
 the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. Retrieved October 21, 2022, from
 https://teara.govt.nz/en/biculturalism/page-1
- Henry, E., & Pene, H. (2001). Kaupapa Maori: Locating Indigenous Ontology, Epistemology and Methodology in the Academy. *Organization*, 8(2), 234–242. https://doi.org/10.1177/1350508401082009
- Higgins, R. H. (2021, September 12). Kia kaha: The intergenerational struggle to preserve te reo Māori. *The Spinoff*. Retrieved January 24, 2023, from https://thespinoff.co.nz/atea/12-09-2021/kia-kaha-the-intergenerational-struggle-to-preserve-te-reo-maori
- Hirini, P., & Collings, S. (2005). Whakamomori: He whakaaro, he kōrero noa: A collection of contemporary views on Māori and suicide. Ministry of Health. http://www.moh.govt.nz
- Houkamau, C. A., & Sibley, C. G. (2010). The multi-dimensional model of Māori identity and cultural engagement. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, *39*(1), 8–28. https://www.psychology.org.nz/journal-archive/Houkamau.pdf
- Jackson, A. (2018). How Tikanga Shapes Identity. *Junctures: The Journal for Thematic Dialogue*, 19, 19–22.
- Jackson, M. (2020). Where to Next? Decolonisation and the Stories in the Land. In *Imagining Decolonisation* (pp. 133–155). Bridget Williams Books.
 https://doi.org/10.7810/9781988545783
- Johnsen, M. (2018, April 5). Finding a place to stand in a new landscape. *The Spinoff*. Retrieved September 18, 2022, from https://thespinoff.co.nz/atea/05-04-2018/finding-a-place-to-stand-in-a-new-landscape

- Jones, B., Ingham, T., Davies, C., & Cram, F. (2010). Whānau Tuatahi: Māori community partnership research using a Kaupapa Māori methodology. *MAI Review*, *3*, 1–14.
- Ka'ai-Mahuta, R. (2011). The impact of colonisation on te reo Māori: A critical review of the State education system. *Te Kaharoa*, 4(1), 195–225.
 https://doi.org/10.24135/tekaharoa.v4i1.117
- Kidman, J. (2016). Māori Young People, Nationhood, and Land. In K. Nairn, P. Kraftl, & T. Skelton (Eds.), *Space, Place, and Environment* (Vol. 3, pp. 28–42). Springer Nature.
- King, P., Hodgetts, D., Rua, M., & Morgan, M. (2018). When the Marae Moves into the City:

 Being Māori in Urban Palmerston North. *City &Amp; Community*, *17*(4), 1189–1208.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/cico.12355
- King, P., Hodgetts, D., Rua, M., & Whetu, T. T. (2015). Older Men Gardening on the Marae:

 Everyday practices for being Māori. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous*Peoples, 11(1), 14–28. https://doi.org/10.1177/117718011501100102
- Kingi, T., Russell, L., Ashby, W., & The Youth Wellbeing Study team. (2017). Mā te mātau, ka ora: The use of traditional Indigenous knowledge to support contemporary rangatahi Māori who self-injure. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 46(3), 137–145.
- Kipuri, N. (2009). Culture. In United Nations (Ed.), *State of the World's Indigenous Peoples* (pp. 51–78). United Nations Publication.
- Kukutai, T. (2013). The Structure of Urban Māori Identities. In *Indigenous in the city :*Contemporary identities and cultural innovation (pp. 311–333). UBC Press.

 https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/auckland/reader.action?docID=3412844

- Kukutai, T., Sporle, A., & Roskruge, M. (2016). Expressions of whānau. In *Families and Whānau Status Report*. Superu. https://thehub.swa.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/FW-Status-Report-2016-3.pdf
- Lawson-Te Aho, K. (2013). WHĀIA TE MAURIORA IN PURSUIT OF HEALING Theorising

 Connections between Soul Healing, Tribal Self-determination and Māori Suicide

 Prevention in Aotearoa/New Zealand (Doctoral Thesis). University of Auckland.

 http://researcharchive.vuw.ac.nz/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10063/3086/thesis.pdf?sequence

 =2
- Le Grice, J. (2014). *MĀORI AND REPRODUCTION, SEXUALITY EDUCATION, MATERNITY, AND ABORTION* (Doctoral Thesis). The University of Auckland.
- Le Grice, J., Braun, V., & Wetherell, M. (2017). "What I reckon is, is that like the love you give to your kids they'll give to someone else and so on and so on": Whanaungatanga and mātauranga Māori in practice. New Zealand Journal of Psychology, 46(3), 88–97.
- Lee, J. (2009). Decolonising Māori narratives: Pūrākau as a method. MAI Review, 2, 1–12.
- Lindsay Latimer, C., Le Grice, J., Hamley, L., Greaves, L., Gillon, A., Groot, S., Manchi, M., Renfrew, L., & Clark, T. C. (2021). 'Why would you give your children to something you don't trust?': Rangatahi health and social services and the pursuit of tino rangatiratanga. *Kōtuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/1177083x.2021.1993938
- Linsay-Latimer, C. (2018). Ahi ka: Keeping the home fires burning across new contexts The Experiences of Māori Mothers at the University of Auckland (Masters Thesis). The University of Auckland.

- Liu, J., McCreanor, T., McIntosh, T., & Teaiwa, T. (2005). Introduction: Constructing New Zealand Identities. In *New Zealand identities: departures and destinations* (1st ed., pp. 14–32). Victoria University Press.
- Lyford, S., & Cook, P. (2005). The Whanaungatanga Model of Care. *Nursing Praxis in New Zealand*, 21(2), 26–36. https://europepmc.org/article/MED/16764164
- Mark, G., & Boulton, A. (2017). Indigenising Photovoice: Putting Māori Cultural Values Into a Research Method. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 18(3). https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-18.3.2827
- Mark, G., Chamberlain, K., & Boulton, A. (2017). Acknowledging the Māori cultural values and beliefs embedded in rongoā Māori healing. *International Journal of Indigenous Health*, 12(1), 75–92. https://doi.org/10.18357/ijih121201716902
- Marques, B., Freeman, C., & Carter, L. (2021). Adapting Traditional Healing Values and Beliefs into Therapeutic Cultural Environments for Health and Well-Being. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(1), 426.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19010426
- Martel, R., Reihana-Tait, H., Lawrence, A., Shepherd, M., Wihongi, T., & Goodyear-Smith, F. (2020). Reaching out to reduce health inequities for Māori youth. *International Nursing Review*, 67(2), 275–281. https://doi.org/10.1111/inr.12565
- Martel, R., Shepherd, M., & Goodyear-Smith, F. (2021). He awa whiria-A "Braided River": An Indigenous Māori Approach to Mixed Methods. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 16(1), 17–33. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689820984028

- Matika, C. M., Houkamau, C. A., & Sibley, C. G. (2020). The Revised Multidimensional Model of Māori Identity and Cultural Engagement (MMM-ICE3). *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 49(2), 59–71.
- McCreanor, T., Penney, L., Jensen, V., Witten, K., Kearns, R., & Barnes, H. M. (2006). 'This is like my comfort zone': Senses of place and belonging within Oruāmo/Beachhaven, New Zealand. *New Zealand Geographer*, 62(3), 196–207.
- McIntosh, T. (2006). Mori Identities: Fixed, Fluid, Forced. In *New Zealand identities :*Departures and destinations (pp. 67–94). Victoria University Press.

 https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/auckland/detail.action?docID=1754009
- McLachlan, A., Waitoki, W., Harris, P., & Jones, H. (2021a). Whiti Te Rā: A guide to connecting Māori to traditional wellbeing pathways. *Journal of Indigenous Wellbeing*, 6(1), 78–97.
- McLachlan, A., Waitoki, W., Harris, P., & Jones, H. (2021b). Whiti Te Rā: A guide to connecting Māori to traditional wellbeing pathways. *Journal of Indigenous Wellbeing*, 6(1), 78–96.
- McLachlan, A., Wirihana, R. W., & Huriwai, T. H. (2017). Whai tikanga: The application of a culturally relevant value centred approach. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 46(3), 46–54.
- McNatty, W., & Roa, T. (2002). Whanaungatanga: An Illustration of the Importance of Cultural Context. *He Puna Korero: Journal of Maori and Pacific Development*, *3*(1), 88–96. https://search.informit.com.au/documentSummary;dn=884027781311679;res=IELNZC
- Meredith, P. (2015a, February 17). *Hopes and reality*. Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. Retrieved February 11, 2022, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/urban-maori/page-2

- Meredith, P. (2015b, February 17). *Urbanisation*. Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand.

 Retrieved May 24, 2022, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/urban-maori/page-1
- Metge, J. (1995). *New growth from old: The whānau in the modern world.* Victoria University Press.
- Mika, C. (2017). The Uncertain Kaupapa of Kaupapa Māori. In T. K. Hoskins & A. Jones (Eds.), *Critical Conversations in Kaupapa Maori* (pp. 97–106). Huia Publishers.
- Ministry for Culture and Heritage. (2022, January 13). *Declaration of Independence*. He

 Whakaputanga NZHistory, New Zealand History Online. Retrieved April 21, 2022,
 from https://nzhistory.govt.nz/culture/declaration-of-independence-taming-the-frontier
- Ministry for the Environment & Stats NZ. (2021). New Zealand's Environmental Reporting Series: Our Land 2021.
- Moeke-Pickering, T. (1996). Maori identity within whanau: A review of literature. *University of Waikato*. https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/bitstream/10289/464/1/content.pdf
- Nepe, T. (1991). *Kaupapa Maori: An Educational Intervention System* (Masters Thesis). The University of Auckland.
- New Zealand Parliament. (2022). *Suicide in New Zealand: A snapshot of recent trends*. https://www.parliament.nz/media/9014/suicide-in-nz-snapshot-march-2022.pdf
- Ngata-Turley, C. (2002). To Stand, Belong and Flourish: Exploring the Belonging and Success of Aotearoa University Students (Master's Thesis). Massey University.
- Ngāti Whātua Ōrākei. (2021). *Taking of the land*. Te Tai Treaty Settlement Stories. Retrieved November 3, 2022, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/te-tai/ngati-whatua-orakei-toru

- Ngawhare, R. M. (2019). Whakapapa Ora: An exploration of Māori Identity through
 Whakapapa (Masters Thesis). The University of Waikato.

 https://hdl.handle.net/10289/13535
- O'carroll, A. D. (2013). Virtual Whanaungatanga: Māori utilizing social networking sites to attain and maintain relationships. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, 9(3), 230–245. https://doi.org/10.1177/117718011300900304
- Paringatai, K. (2016). Māori identity development outside of tribal environments. *Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work*, 26(1), 47–54. https://doi.org/10.11157/anzswj-vol26iss1id54
- Pihama, L. (2001). *Tihei mauri ora Honouring our voices: Mana wahine as kaupapa Maori theoretical framework.* (Doctoral Thesis). The University of Auckland.
- Pihama, L. (2015). Kaupapa Māori Theory: Transforming Theory in Aotearoa. In L. Pihama, S.-J. Tiakiwai, & K. Southey (Eds.), *Kaupapa Rangahau: A Reader: A collection of readings from the Kaupapa Rangahau Workshop Series* (2nd ed., pp. 5–16). Te Kotahi Research Institute.
 - https://www.waikato.ac.nz/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/339885/Kaupapa-Rangahau-A-Reader_2nd-Edition.pdf
- Pihama, L., & Cameron, N. (2012). Kua Tupu Te Pā Harakeke: Developing Healthy Whānau Relationships. In Waziyatawin & M. Yellow Bird (Eds.), *For Indigenous Minds Only A decolonization handbook* (1st ed., pp. 225–244). School for Advanced Research Press.
- Pihama, L., Cram, F., & Walker, S. (2002). Creating Methodological Space: A Literature Review of Kaupapa Māori Research. *Canadian Journal of Native Educatioon*, 26(1), 30–43.
- Pihama, L. P., Cameron, N. C., & Te Nana, R. T. (2019). *Historical trauma and whānau violence* [Online]. New Zealand Family Violence Clearinghouse.

- Pool, I., & Kukutai, T. (2018, September 27). *Post-war changes, 1945–1970*. Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. Retrieved May 24, 2022, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/taupori-maori-population-change/page-4
- Rameka, L. (2016). Kia whakatōmuri te haere whakamua: 'I walk backwards into the future with my eyes fixed on my past.' *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, 17(4), 387–398. https://doi.org/10.1177/1463949116677923
- Rameka, L. (2018). A Māori perspective of being and belonging. *Contemporary Issues in Early Childhood*, 19(4), 367–378. https://doi.org/10.1177/1463949118808099
- Rameka, L. R., & Peterson, S. P. (2021). Sustaining Indigenous languages and cultures: Māori medium education in Aotearoa New Zealand and Aboriginal Head Start in Canada.

 *Kotuitui: New Zealand Journal of Social Sciences Online, 16(2), 307–323.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1177083X.2021.1922466
- Rangiwai, B. (2018). Ko au ko te taiao, ko te taiao ko au I am the environment and the environment is me: A Māori theology of the environment. *Te Kaharoa*, 11(1), 638–652.
- Reid, J., Rout, M., Tau, T. M., & Smith, C. (2017). The Colonising Environment: AN

 AETIOLOGY OF THE TRAUMA OF SETTLER COLONISATION AND LAND

 ALIENATION ON NGĀI TAHI WHĀNAU. In *University of Canterbury*. UC Ngāi

 Tahu Research Centre. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from

 https://www.canterbury.ac.nz/media/documents/ngai-tahu-research-centre/The-Colonising-Environment---PDF-final.pdf
- Riki-Tuakiritetangata, D., & Ibarra-Lemay, A. (2021). Tūhonotanga—A Māori Perspective of Healing and Well-Being through Ongoing and Regained Connection to Self, Culture, Kin, Land and Sky. *Genealogy*, 5(2), 55. https://doi.org/10.3390/genealogy5020055

- Ritchie, J. E. (1992). Becoming bicultural. Huia.
- Royal, C. (1999). Te Ao Mārama: A Research Paradigm. In *Te Pūmanawa Hauora, 1999*Proceedings of Te Oru Rangahau: Māori Research and Development Conference (pp. 78–86). School of Māori Studies, Massey University.
- Royal, C. (2005, February 8). *Urbanisation and renaissance*. Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. Retrieved May 2, 2022, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/maori/page-5
- Royal, C. (2012). Politics and Knowledge: Kaupapa Māori and mātauranga Māori. *New Zealand Journal of Educational Studies*, 47(2), 30–37.
- Rua, M., Hodgetts, D., & Stolte, O. (2017). Māori men: An indigenous psychological perspective on the interconnected self. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 46(3), 55–63. https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/handle/10289/12670
- Ruru, J., & Kohu-Morris, J. (2020). 'Maranga Ake Ai' The Heroics of Constitutionalising *Te Tiriti O Waitangi*/The Treaty of Waitangi in *Aotearoa* New Zealand. *Federal Law Review*, 48(4), 556–569. https://doi.org/10.1177/0067205x20955105
- Salmond, A. (1993). WHOSE GOD, OR NOT? Social Analysis: The International Journal of Social and Cultural Practice, 34, 50–55. https://www.jstor.org/stable/23163006
- Schwencke, A. M., Renfrew, L. R., Hamley, L. H., Latimer, C. L., Parkinson, H. P., Le Grice, J., Manchi, M. M., Groot, S. G., Tane, S. T., Gillon, A. G., Harrison, N. H., & Clark, T. C. (2021). Whanaungatanga: Growing Connections. Rangatahi resource to support strong, health and well connected rangatahi. In *Youth19*. University of Auckland.
- Sciascia, A. (2016). Negotiating Place, Negotiating Identity: Rangatahi Māori in Facebook. In K. Nairn, P. Kraftl, & T. Skelton (Eds.), *Space, Place, and Environment* (Vol. 3, pp. 67–87). Springer Reference. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-287-044-5

- Smith, F. (2020). 'They Shouldn't Assume Our Lives Are Easy': Rangatahi Wāhine Negotiating Social Tensions, Pressures, and Harm on Their Journey to Becoming Sexual Beings (Masters Thesis). The University of Auckland.
- Smith, G. (1997). *The Development of Kaupapa Māori: Theory and Praxis* (Doctoral Thesis). The University of Auckland.
- Smith, L. (2015). Kaupapa Māori research- Some Kaupapa Māori principles. In K. Southey, S.-J. Tiakiwai, & L. Pihama (Eds.), *Kaupapa Rangahau: A Reader: A Collection of Readings from the Kaupapa Maori Research Workshop Series* (2nd ed., pp. 46–52). Te Kotahi Research Institute.

 https://www.waikato.ac.nz/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/339885/Kaupapa-Rangahau-A-Reader_2nd-Edition.pdf
- Smith, L. T. (2012). *Decolonizing Methodologies: Research and Indigenous Peoples* (2nd ed.).

 Otago University Press.
- Stewart, G. T. (2021). Still being Māori. In M. Kirloskar-Steinbach & L. Kalmanson (Eds.), *Māori Philosophy: Indigenous Thinking from Aotearoa* (pp. 29–54). Bloomsbury Academic.
- Stuart, I. (2003). The construction of a national Maori identity by Maori media. *Pacific Journalism Review : Te Koakoa*, 9(1), 45–58. https://doi.org/10.24135/pjr.v9i1.756
- Stubbing, J., & Gibson, K. (2021). Can We Build 'Somewhere That You Want to Go'?

 Conducting Collaborative Mental Health Service Design with New Zealand's Young

 People. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(19),

 9983. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18199983

- Taki, M. (1996). *Kaupapa Māori and Contemporary Iwi Resistance* (Masters Thesis). The University of Auckland.
- Taonui, R. (2012, June 20). *The Native Land Court*. Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand.

 Retrieved May 22, 2022, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/te-ture-maori-and-legislation/page-
- Taonui, R. (2015, May 5). *What is whakapapa?* Te Ara Encyclopedia of New Zealand.

 Retrieved April 19, 2022, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/whakapapa-genealogy/page-1
- Taonui, R. (2016, July 15). *Maori Representation Act 1867*. Te Ara the Encyclopedia of New Zealand. Retrieved April 28, 2022, from https://teara.govt.nz/en/zoomify/33905/maori-representation-act-1867
- Tassell-Matamua, N., Lindsay, N., Bennett, A., & Masters-Awatere, B. (2021). Māori Cultural Identity Linked to Greater Regard for Nature: Attitudes and (Less So) Behavior. *Ecopsychology*, 13(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1089/eco.2020.0027
- Te Huia, A. (2015). Perspectives towards Māori identity by Māori heritage language learners.

 New Zealand Journal of Psychology, 44(3), 18–28.
- Te One, A., & Clifford, C. (2021). Tino Rangatiratanga and Well-being: Māori Self

 Determination in the Face of Covid-19. *Frontiers in Sociology*, 6.

 https://doi.org/10.3389/fsoc.2021.613340
- Tiakiwai, S. (2015). Understanding and Doing Research: A Māori Position. In L. Pihama, S.-J.

 Tiakiwai, & K. Southey (Eds.), *Kaupapa Rangahau: A Reader A collection of readings*from the Kaupapa Rangahau Workshop Series (2nd ed., pp. 77–93). Te Kotahi Research

 Institute. https://www.waikato.ac.nz/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/339885/Kaupapa
 Rangahau-A-Reader_2nd-Edition.pdf

- Tipene-Clarke, R. T. (2005). He Korero o Nga Rangatahi Voices of Māori youth. *Childrenz Issues: Journal of the Children's Issues Centre*, 9(2), 37–42.
- Tupaea, M. (2020). He Kaitiakitanga, He Māiatanga: Colonial Exclusion of Mātauranga Māori in the Care and Protection of Tamaiti Atawhai (Masters Thesis). The University of Auckland.
- Valentine, H., Tassell-Mataamua, N., & Flett, R. (2017). Whakairia ki runga: The many dimensions of wairua. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 46(3), 64–71.
- Veracini, L. (2015). *The Settler Colonial Present* (2015th ed.). Palgrave Macmillan. https://doi.org/10.1057/9781137372475
- Waitoa, J., Scheyvens, R., & Warren, T. R. (2015). E-Whanaungatanga: The role of social media in Māori political empowerment. *AlterNative: An International Journal of Indigenous Peoples*, 11(1), 45–58. https://doi.org/10.1177/117718011501100104
- Waitoki, W. W. (2022). In defence of mātauranga Māori: a response to the 'seven academics.'

 New Zealand Medical Journal, 135(1552).
- Walker, R. (1990). *Ka whawhai tonu matou: Struggle without end* (First Edition). Penguin Books.
- Webber, M., & Kukutai, T. (2017). Ka Pū Te Ruha, Ka Hao Te Rangatahi: Maori identities in the twenty-first century. In A. Bell, V. Elizabeth, T. McIntosh, & M. Wynyard (Eds.), *A Land of Milk and Honey? Making Sense of Aotearoa New Zealand* (pp. 71–82). Auckland University Press.
- Weber, M. (2008). Walking the Space Between: Identity and Māori/Pākehā. NZCER Press.
- Wilson, D., Mikahere-Hall, A., & Sherwood, J. (2021). Using indigenous kaupapa Māori research methodology with constructivist grounded theory: generating a theoretical

explanation of indigenous womens realities. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 25(3), 379–391. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2021.1897756

Wynyard, M. (2019). 'Not One More Bloody Acre': Land Restitution and the Treaty of Waitangi Settlement Process in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Land*, 8(11), 162.

https://doi.org/10.3390/land8110162